




CETIP S.A. - Mercados Organizados

Statements of income

Years ended December 31

In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated (A free translation of the original in Portuguese)

Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Net revenue from services �� 1,261,071           1,097,318      1,286,847      1,125,430      

(Operating expenses)/other operating income (487,209)             (438,225)        (494,491)        (447,712)        
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Equity in the results of associate � (103,954)             294,280         1,082              965                 

Financial result �& 196,947               (396,974)        91,051            (111,428)        
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Income before taxation 866,855               556,399         884,489         567,255         

Income tax and social contribution (294,227)             (58,793)          (311,861)        (69,649)          
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Net income for the period 572,628               497,606         572,628         497,606         
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CETIP Consolidated

Net income per share attributable to CETIP's 
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CETIP S.A. - Mercados Organizados

Statements of comprehensive income

Years ended December 31

In thousands of reais (A free translation of the original in Portuguese)

Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Net income for the period 572,628        497,606        572,628        497,606        

Other comprehensive income (1)

Fair value adjustment of available for sale financial assets 23,992          (11,970)         23,992          (11,970)         

Deferred taxes on fair value adjustment (8,158)           4,070             (8,158)           4,070             

Total other comprehensive income 15,834          (7,900)           15,834          (7,900)           

588,462        489,706        588,462        489,706        

(1)
 Items will be subsequently reclassified to income

CETIP Consolidated

 Total comprehensive income for the period a1ributable to CETIP's shareholders

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CETIP S.A. - Mercados Organizados

Statements of changes in shareholders’ equity

Years ended December 31

In thousands of reais (A free translation of the original in Portuguese)

Carrying Income reserves Additional

Capital value Legal Statutory Treasury Retained dividends

Notes Capital reserves adjustments reserve reserve  shares earnings proposed Total

At December 31, 2015 658,416           527,834           (8,313)           2,048                537,340    (104,502)           -                     82,992               1,695,815        

  Comprehensive income

Net income for the period -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      572,628            -                      572,628           

Fair value adjustment of available for sale financial assets, 

  net of deferred taxes -                    -                    15,834          -                    -             -                      -                     -                      15,834              

  Total comprehensive income for the period -                    -                    15,834          -                    -             -                      572,628            -                      588,462           

  Transactions with owners and other movements

Approval/payment - additional dividends proposed -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      -                     (82,992)              (82,992)            

Disposal shares - stock option exercises -                    (3,668)              -                 -                    -             10,654               -                     -                      6,986                

Appropriation - stock options plans 23c -                    14,175             -                 -                    -             -                      -                     -                      14,175              

Interest on own capital and dividends forfeited upon expiry -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      243                    -                      243                   

Appropriation of net income

Interest on own capital 15f -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      (108,323)           -                      (108,323)          

Dividends 15f -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      (378,409)           98,584               (279,825)          

Dividendos propostos à conta de reserva de lucros 15e -                    -                    -                 -                    -                     -                    

Statutory reserve 15e -                    -                    -                 -                    86,139      -                      (86,139)             -                      -                    

  Total transactions with owners and other movements -                    10,507             -                 -                    86,139      10,654               (572,628)           15,592               (449,736)          

At December 31, 2016 658,416           538,341           7,521            2,048                623,479    (93,848)              -                     98,584               1,834,541        

At December 31, 2014 635,937           533,821           (413)               2,048                462,667    -                      -                     111,893             1,745,953        

  Comprehensive income

Net income for the period -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      497,606            -                      497,606           

Fair value adjustment of available for sale financial assets, 

  net of deferred taxes -                    -                    (7,900)           -                    -             -                      -                     -                      (7,900)               

  Total comprehensive income for the period -                    -                    (7,900)           -                    -             -                      497,606            -                      489,706           

  Transactions with owners and other movements

Approval/payment - additional dividends proposed -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      -                     (111,893)           (111,893)          

Capital increase - capitalization of a portion of the goodwill special 

reserve (Board Meeting 05/06/15) 12,774              (12,774)            -                 -                    -             -                      -                     -                      -                    

Repurchases of shares -                    -                    -                 -                    -             (143,199)           -                     -                      (143,199)          

Disposal shares - stock option exercises (12,999)            38,697               25,698              

Capital increase - stock options exercised 9,705                -                    -                 -                    -             -                      -                     -                      9,705                

Appropriation - stock options plans 23c -                    19,786             -                 -                    -             -                      -                     -                      19,786              

Interest on own capital and dividends forfeited upon expiry -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      31                      -                      31                      

Appropriation of net income

Interest on own capital 15f -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      (94,891)             -                      (94,891)            

Dividends 15f -                    -                    -                 -                    -             -                      (328,073)           82,992               (245,081)          

Statutory reserve -                    -                    -                 -                    74,673      -                      (74,673)             -                      -                    

  Total transactions with owners and other movements 22,479              (5,987)              -                 -                    74,673      (104,502)           (497,606)           (28,901)              (539,844)          

At December 31, 2015 658,416           527,834           (8,313)           2,048                537,340    (104,502)           -                     82,992               1,695,815        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CETIP S.A. - Mercados Organizados

Statements of cash flows 

Years ended December 31

In thousands of reais (A free translation of the original in Portuguese)

Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities

Income before taxation 866,855       556,399     884,489        567,255     

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization 102,780       89,823        105,726        92,771        

(Profit)/loss on disposal of permanent assets 687               3,633          167                3,633          

Revenue from equity 103,954       (294,541)    (1,082)           (1,226)         

Share-based incentives with no cash disbursement 14,175         19,786        14,175          19,786        

Interest on financial investments held to maturity (7,104)          (6,332)         (7,104)           (6,332)         

Interest on debentures 73,331         69,078        73,331          69,078        

Interest on loans and financial leases 47,464         35,276        18,735          16,829        

Provision for contigencies and legal obligations 591               1,212          591                1,212          

Exchange variation over loans (269,842)      514,322     (130,070)       254,073     

Derivatives 84,593         (96,510)      84,593          (96,510)      

Adjustment to fair value of bank loans 8,631            (8,802)         8,632            (9,626)         

Adjusted income before taxation 1,026,115    883,344     1,052,183     910,943     

Changes in assets and liabilities

Non restricted financial investments (373,850)      (320,254)    (391,498)       (337,602)    

Accounts receivable (15,895)        (11,864)      (16,495)         (10,923)      

Recoverable taxes and contributions 46,375         5,083          42,292          (82)              

Other receivables (17,556)        3,759          (17,488)         3,674          

Prepaid expenses (3,096)          3,566          (3,096)           3,567          

Judicial deposits 4                   (44)              4                    (44)              

Suppliers 5,183            37,062        5,166            36,893        

Labor obligations and social charges 21,941         11,754        21,861          11,729        

Taxes payable 60                 2,762          75                  2,770          

Deferred revenues (4,551)          (6,431)         (4,551)           (6,431)         

Other liabilities, contingencies and legal obligations 1,798            295             1,797            293             

Cash from operations 686,528       609,032     690,250        614,787     

Income tax and social contribution paid (190,742)      (160,511)    (198,451)       (165,062)    

Net cash provided by operating activities 495,786       448,521     491,799        449,725     

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property and equipment (19,857)        (12,863)      (19,857)         (12,863)      

Acquisition of intangible assets (78,061)        (76,563)      (78,061)         (76,563)      

Investment in subsidiary (328,954)      -              -                 -              

Dividends received from subsidiary 5,408            4,648          -                 -              

Dividends/Interest on own capital received from subsidiary -                261             -                 261             

Proceeds from sale of property and equipament 36                 185             36                  185             

Recebimento na alienação de ativos não circulantes mantidos para venda -                -              -                 -              

Net cash used in investing activities (421,428)      (84,332)      (97,882)         (88,980)      

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of debentures notional value (410)             -              (410)              -              

Payment of interest on debentures (72,446)        (64,400)      (72,446)         (64,400)      

Payment of loans notional value (849,853)      (221,373)    (2,072)           (1,741)         

Payment of interest on loans (27,239)        (30,854)      (16,767)         (12,293)      

Payment of derivative contracts (28,138)        (12,581)      (28,138)         (12,581)      

Payment of share repurchases -                (143,198)    -                 (143,198)    

Net proceeds from loans obtained 1,356,675    494,466     178,614        261,130     

Proceeds from shares issued - stock options exercised -                9,705          -                 9,705          

Proceeds from shares disposal - stock options exercised 6,988            25,698        6,988            25,698        

Interest on own capital and dividends expired -                31               -                 31               

Dividends and interest on own capital paid (458,569)      (421,209)    (458,569)       (421,209)    

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (72,992)        (363,715)    (392,800)       (358,858)    

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,366           474             1,117            1,887          

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 879               405             2,438            551             

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 4 2,245           879             3,555            2,438          

CETIP Consolidated

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CETIP S.A. - Mercados Organizados

Statements of value added

Years ended December 31

In thousands of reais (A free translation of the original in Portuguese)

2016 2015 2016 2015

Income 1,402,459     1,240,983     1,429,686     1,270,414     

Revenue from services 1,402,211     1,240,839     1,429,438     1,270,270     

Other operating income 248                144                248                144                

Goods and services acquired from third parties (266,368)       (757,353)       (264,045)       (465,060)       

General and administrative expenses (42,892)         (40,115)         (43,080)         (40,231)         

Third party services (96,460)         (95,660)         (99,054)         (100,052)       

Other operating expenses (127,016)       (621,578)       (121,911)       (324,777)       

Gross value added 1,136,091     483,630        1,165,641     805,354        

Depreciation and amortization (102,780)       (89,823)         (105,726)       (92,771)         

Net value added generated by the company 1,033,311     393,807        1,059,915     712,583        

Value added received through transfer 341,068        618,456        306,372        295,440        

Revenue from equity (103,954)       294,280        1,082             965                

Financial income 445,022        324,176        305,290        294,475        

Total value added to be distributed 1,374,379     1,012,263     1,366,287     1,008,023     

Distribution of value added 

Personnel 214,654        179,246        215,990        180,649        

Salaries 113,287        88,782           114,185        89,662           

Benefits 28,267           21,471           28,512           21,749           

Profit sharing 46,388           40,426           46,521           40,600           

Share-based incentives with no cash disbursement 14,175           19,786           14,175           19,786           

FGTS 7,576             6,513             7,636             6,584             

Board and committee members' compensation 4,961             2,268             4,961             2,268             

Taxes and contributions 460,611        227,922        479,912        240,727        

Municipal 34,913           48,943           35,370           49,186           

Federal 425,549        178,847        444,384        191,400        

Other 149                132                158                141                

Third party capital remuneration 126,486        107,489        97,757           89,041           

Interest on debentures and on purchase price deferred 

payments 73,331           69,078           73,331           69,078           

Interest on loans and finance leases 47,464           35,276           18,735           16,829           

Equipment and systems rental 5,691             3,135             5,691             3,134             

Own capital remuneration 572,628        497,606        572,628        497,606        

Dividends 378,409        328,073        378,409        328,073        

Interest on own capital 108,323        94,891           108,323        94,891           

Net income retained 85,896           74,642           85,896           74,642           

Value added distributed 1,374,379     1,012,263     1,366,287     1,008,023     

CETIP Consolidated

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 
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1 Operations 
 
CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados ("CETIP" and "Company") is a publicly held share company 
with headquarters in Rio de Janeiro. CETIP was formed following the demutualization of CETIP - 
Câmara de Custódia e Liquidação (“CETIP Associação”) in 2008. 
 
CETIP administers organized over-the-counter ("OTC") markets, i.e. environments for trading 
and registration of securities, government and corporate fixed income bonds, and OTC 
derivatives.  CETIP is a systemically important settlement and clearing house, as defined by the 
SPB – Brazilian Payment System (Law 10,214), which performs the scriptural custody of assets 
and contracts, registers transactions carried out in the OTC market, processes financial 
settlements, and offers to the market an electronic platform for conducting various types of 
online transactions, such as auctions and trading of government bonds, corporate bonds, and 
fixed income securities. 
 
The Company is Latin America’s the lead depository of corporate fixed income securities and 
the lead chamber for private assets of the Brazilian financial market. Through its activities it 
provides the necessary support to the entire cycle of transactions involving fixed income 
securities, securities and OTC derivatives. 
 
The Company is also the leading private provider of information on insertions and removals of 
financial restrictions related to vehicle financing transactions, with an integrated electronic 
system and nationwide coverage which provides critical infrastructure to the vehicle financing 
market. 
 
 
2 Presentation and preparation of the financial statements 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on February 14, 
2017. 
 
The Statements of value added, individual and consolidated, is required by Brazilian Corporate 
Law and the accounting practices adopted in Brazil to publicly traded companies. IFRS does not 
require presentation of this statement. This statement is presented as supplementary 
information in IFRS, subject to the set of financial statements. 
  



CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 
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a. Consolidated financial statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and are being presented in 
accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, including the pronouncements 
issued by the Accounting Pronouncement Committee (CPCs). 
 
The consolidated financial statements have also been prepared and are being presented in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards – IFRS issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the balances of CETIP and of its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Cetip Info Tecnologia S.A. and Cetip Lux S.à.r.l. (“Cetip Lux”). 
 
b. Individual financial statements 
 
The individual financial statements of the parent company were prepared in accordance with 
the accounting practices adopted in Brazil issued by the Accounting Pronouncement Committee 
(CPCs) and are published together with the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The individual financial statements of the parent company were prepared in accordance with 
the accounting practices adopted in Brazil issued by the Accounting Pronouncement Committee 
(CPCs) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and it shows all relevant information of own financial 
statements, and only it, which are consistent with those used by administration in its 
management. From 2014, the IFRS now allow the application of the equity method in 
subsidiaries in separate financial statements, as it was required by the accounting practices 
adopted in Brazil. Therefore, there is no difference in accounting criteria in this respect and the 
individual financial statements also comply with IFRSs issued by IASB. 
 
c. Functional and presentation currency 
 
The consolidated and individual financial statements are presented in Brazilian Reais, which is 
the Company’s functional currency. 
 
d. Segment information 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified 
as the Executive Board that makes strategic decisions. 
  



CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 
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e. Accounting estimates 
 
The preparation of individual and consolidated quarterly information in conformity with IFRS 
and CPCs requires management to exercise its judgment, to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and assumption are constantly revised. Reviews in estimates are recognized in the 
period in which they are made and in any future periods affected. 
 
Information about critical judgments relating to the accounting policies applied and critical 
estimates and assumptions that could have a significant impact in the amounts reported in the 
individual and consolidated financial statements are included in the following notes: 
 
(i) Note 5 – classification and determination of the fair value of financial instruments; 
(ii) Note 7 – assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount for the purpose of the 

goodwill impairment testing; 
(iii) Note 13 – determination of provisions for contingent liabilities; 
(iv) Note 23c(i) – determination of the fair value of stock options granted to employees and 

estimate of the amount of options that will achieve vesting. 
 
 
3 Summary of significant accounting policies  
 
The main accounting policies described below have been consistently applied to all the periods 
presented in these individual and consolidated financial statements. 
 
a. Basis of consolidation 
 
i. Business combination 
 
The Company measures the goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred, 
deducting the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed, all measured at the 
date of acquisition. 
 
Transaction costs other than those associated with the issuance of debt or equity, which the 
company incurs in relation to a business combination are recognized as expenses as they are 
incurred. 
  



CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 
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ii. Investment in subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities in which the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity, usually caracterized by a participation of more than half of the voting 
rights (voting capital). The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the control 
is transferred to the Company. Consolidation is interrupted from the date on which control 
ends. 
 

iii. Investment in associates 
 
Associates are those entities in which the Company, directly or indirectly, has significant 
influence over the financial and operating policies, but not control.  The significant influence 
supposedly occurs when the company, directly or indirectly, holds between 20 and 50 per cent 
of the voting rights in another entity.  
 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are 
initially recognized at cost.  The Company’s share of its associates’ profits or losses is recognized 
in the income statement, and its share of movements in reserves is recognized in reserves. The 
cumulative movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.  
 
The accounting policies of associates have been applied in a consistent manner with the policies 
adopted by the Company. 
 

iv. Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 
Balances and inter-company transactions, and any income or expenses arising from inter-
company transactions are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains 
arising from transactions with companies accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
are eliminated against the investment in proportion to the Company’s interest in the investee.  
 
b. Transactions in foreign currencies 
 
Transactions in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation based on the 
exchange rate at the end of the period, relating to assets and liabilities in foreign currencies, are 
recognized in the income statement as financial income or expenses. 
  



CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 
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c. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the balance of cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash, bank deposits and short-term investments (term of up to 3 months), with high 
liquidity and a negligible risk of change in value. 
 
d. Financial instruments 
 

i. Classification and measurement of financial assets 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets according to the following categories: measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity and available for sale. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and is 
determined when the asset is first recorded. 
 

ii. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
 
The financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are (i) financial assets held for 
active and frequent trading or (ii) assets designated by the Company, when first recorded, as 
measurable at fair value through profit or loss. The assets held for trading are classified as 
current assets irrespective of their contractual maturities. Gains or losses arising from the fair 
value variations of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in 
the statement of income in "financial result" for the period in which they occur. 
 

iii. Loans and receivables 
 
These comprise loans granted and receivables which are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments, not quoted in an active market. The Company's loans and 
receivables comprise trade accounts receivable, advances and other receivables. Loans and 
receivables are recorded at amortized cost, based on the effective interest rate method. 
 

iv. Assets held to maturity 
 
These are financial assets quoted in an active market which are acquired with the intention and 
financial ability to be held in the portfolio up to their maturity. They are recorded at the 
acquisition cost, plus related earnings which are recognized in the statement of income under 
"financial result", using the effective interest rate method. 
  



CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 
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v. Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives instruments which are classified in this 
category or not classified in any other. Available-for-sale financial assets are recorded at fair 
value. Interest on available-for-sale securities, calculated based on the effective interest rate 
method, is recognized in the statement of income under "financial result". Gains or losses 
resulting from a change in fair value are recorded net of deferred taxes in shareholders' equity, 
in the “Carrying value adjustments” account and are transferred to the statement of income 
when the asset is sold or becomes impaired. 
 

vi. Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
The Company recognizes debt securities issued on the date on which they are originated. All 
other financial liabilities are initially recognized at the date of negotiation in which the company 
becomes a part of the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Company derecognizes a 
financial liability when its contractual obligations are withdrawn, cancelled or expired.   
 
The company has the following main non-derivative financial liabilities: borrowings, debentures, 
suppliers and other accounts payable. 
 
Such financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus any attributable transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method.  
 

vii. Fair value 
 
Fair values of investments with public quotations are based on current market prices. For 
financial assets without an active market or public quotation, the Company determines fair 
value through valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flows analysis and option pricing 
models. 
 

viii. Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Company evaluates, at the balance sheet date, if there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is overstated (impaired) in relation to its recoverable value. If 
there is such evidence for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss is transferred 
from equity to the statement of income. 
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Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
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e. Accounts receivable and other receivables 
 
Accounts receivable from customers correspond to the receivables from customers for the 
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Company’s business. If the term of the 
receivable is equivalent to one year or less, the accounts receivable are classified as current 
assets. Otherwise, are presented as non-current assets.   
 
Accounts receivable from customers and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method minus 
the provision for impairment, when applicable. In practice, considering the average short-term 
of these receivables (less than one month), they are usually recognized at the invoiced amount, 
adjusted by a provision for impairment, if necessary. 
 
The impairment provision is recorded when there is objective evidence of loss in the asset’s 
recoverable amount as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset. 
 
f. Prepaid expenses 
 
Represented by contracts between suppliers and the Company, deriving from the provision of 
various prepaid services. The amounts are expensed in the income statement over the term of 
each contract and the extent to which services are received. 
 
g. Judicial deposits 
 
Judicial deposits are stated as a deduction from the corresponding liability recorded when they 
cannot be redeemed, unless there is a favorable outcome for the Company in the dispute 
(Note 13). 
 
h. Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment items are measured at historical cost of acquisition or construction (in 
the case of land and buildings), less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method at the rates disclosed in Note 9, which 
take into account the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
 
The estimated economic useful lives and the estimated residual value of property and 
equipment items are reviewed at the end of each year and adjusted, if necessary. 
 
Repairs and maintenance costs are allocated to the statement of income during the period in 
which they are incurred.  
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i. Intangible assets 
 

i. Goodwill 
 
The goodwill is represented by the positive difference between the consideration paid and/or 
payable for the acquisition of a business and the net amount of the fair value of assets and 
liabilities of the subsidiary acquired. The goodwill arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries is 
recorded as "Intangible assets". 
 
The goodwill is not amortized but tested annually to assess any impairment losses. The goodwill 
is accounted at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill impairment losses 
eventually recognized cannot be reversed.  
 
The goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (UGCs) for impairment testing purposes. The 
allocation is made for the cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units which will 
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill was originated, and are identified 
according to the operating segment. 
 
ii. Contractual relations 
 
Contractual relations acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value on the 
date of acquisition. Contractual relations have finite useful life and are stated at their cost less 
accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the 
expected life of the contractual relationship at the rates described in Note 10. 
 

iii. Software licenses acquired 
 
Software licenses acquired are recorded at total acquisition cost, adjusted when applicable to 
their recoverable value and amortized over their estimated useful life, at the rates described in 
Note 10. 
 

iv. Software development 
 
Expenses directly related to the development of identifiable software programs, controlled by 
the Company and which will probably generate economic benefits greater than their cost, are 
recognized as intangible assets. Direct expenses include the remuneration of the software 
development team and other expenses directly related to development. 
 
Software development expenses recognized as assets are amortized over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method, at the rates described in Note 10.   
 
The estimated economic useful lives and the estimated residual value of intangible assets are 
reviewed at the end of each year and adjusted, if necessary.  
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Other expenses related to software maintenance or development are recognized as expenses 
as they are incurred. 
 
j. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful live, such as the goodwill, are not subject to amortization 
or depreciation and are annually tested for impairment.  Assets that are subject to amortization 
or depreciation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in the circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized at the 
amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its recoverable value, which is the 
greater between its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (Cash Generating Units (CGU)). For the purpose of the goodwill 
impairment testing, the goodwill originated in a business combination is allocated to the CGU to 
which it is related or to which the synergy benefits from the business combination are 
expected. This allocation reflects the lowest level in which the goodwill is monitored internally 
and it is not greater than an operating segment determined in accordance with IFRS 8 and 
CPC 22. 
 
k. Debentures and external loans 
 
The debentures issued and the external loans are recognized initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference 
between the value obtained (net of transaction costs) and the settlement value is recognized in 
the income statement during the period in which the debentures are outstanding, using the 
effective interest rate method. 
 
l. Finance lease obligations 
 
The Company has certain items of property and equipment that have been financed through 
lease. The leases in which the company has substantially retained all the risks and benefits of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. These are immobilized at the beginning of the lease 
by the smallest value between the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of 
minimum lease payments. 
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The minimum lease payments are segregated between financial expense and reduction of the 
outstanding liability. The financial expense is appropriate to each period during the term of the 
lease to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
The property and equipment items acquired through finance leases are depreciated over the 
useful life of the asset. 
 
m. Revenue recognition 
 
Revenues include the consideration received or receivable for the provision of services in the 
ordinary course of the Company’s activities  
 
Revenues are recognized when transactions are completed (such as revenues from registration, 
transactions and lien registration) or when services are rendered (such as revenues from 
insertion of financial constraints, CSD and trade repository maintenance fee (previously 
denominated as custody) and monthly utilization), on an accrual basis. 
 
n. Financial income and expenses 
 
Financial income includes income from interest on funds invested (including available-for-sale 
financial assets), gains on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in fair value 
of financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss and foreign exchange on 
loans. Interest income is recognized in the statement of income using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Financial expenses mainly include interest expenses on financial instruments and finance leases. 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are recognized in the statement of income using the effective interest 
method. 
 
o. Dividends and interest on own capital 
 
The dividends and interest on own capital are recognized as a liability in the financial 
statements at the year end, based on the bylaws of the Company. The dividends above the 
minimum mandatory are maintained shareholders’ equity and provisioned on the date in which 
they are approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting.   
 
The tax benefit of interest on own capital is recognized in the statement of income.  
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p. Contingent assets and liabilities and legal obligations 
 
Recognition, measurement and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and of legal 
obligations are carried out in accordance with the criteria set forth in corporate law: 
 
i. Contingent assets - These are not recorded, except when Management has full control over 

the outcome or when there are favorable decisions to which no further appeals are 
applicable, such that the gain is almost certain. Contingent assets with a probable chance of 
success, when applicable, are only disclosed in the notes to the financial statements; 

 
ii. Contingent liabilities - These are recognized taking into account the opinion of the legal 

advisors, the nature of these lawsuits, similarity with previous proceedings, complexity and 
rulings of the courts, whenever the (i) chance of loss has been classified as probable, where 
an outflow of proceeds will probably be required to settle the obligation and (ii) when the 
amounts involved can be determined with sufficient reliability. The contingent liabilities 
classified as possible losses are not recorded and are only disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements, and those classified as remote are neither recognized nor disclosed 
(except for the item described in Note 13f, which is being disclosed due to the materiality of 
the amounts involved); and 

 
iii. Legal obligations - Arise from legal proceedings related to tax obligations, whose aim is to 

challenge their legality or constitutionality. Regardless of the assessment about the 
probability of success, these have their full amounts recognized in the financial statements.  

 
q. Employee benefits 
 

i. Pension obligations 
 
The Company makes regular contributions to a supplementary pension plan of defined 
contribution, which are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are due. 
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ii. Profit sharing 
 
Profit sharing is recognized during the year, as long as the amount can be accurately calculated 
by the Company. Should this not be the case, profit sharing and bonuses are recognized at the 
end of the year, when the amount can be measured reliably with certainty by the Company. 
 

iii. Share-based remuneration 
 
The Company offers to its employees and executives share-based remuneration plans, to be 
settled in Company’s shares, according to which the Company receives services in consideration 
for stock options. The fair value of options granted is recognized as an expense, during the 
period in which the right is obtained (vesting period). At the reporting date, the Company 
revises the estimated number of options which will vest and recognizes the impact of the 
change in initial estimates, if any, in the statement of income with a contra-entry to 
shareholders' equity on a prospective basis. 
 
In the case of share-based compensation programs settled in cash, the fair value to be paid to 
executives is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the 
period in which the right is obtained. The liability is remeasured at each balance sheet date and 
at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized as personnel 
expenses in the income statement. 
 
r. Income tax and social contribution 
 
The income tax and social contribution are calculated based on the rates of (i) 15% plus a 
surcharge of 10% on taxable income in excess of R$240 per year for income tax and (ii) 9% on 
taxable income for social contribution on net income, and consider the offsetting of carry 
forward tax losses, limited to 30% of the taxable net income. 
 
Expenses with income tax and social contribution comprise current and deferred taxes. The 
current tax and deferred tax are recognized in the result unless they are related to a business 
combination, or related to items directly recognized in shareholders’ equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the tax payable or receivable expected on the taxable profit or loss for the period, 
at the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the quarterly information 
presentation plus any adjustment to tax payable in respect of prior years. 
 
The deferred tax is recognized for temporary differences between the carrying value of assets 
and liabilities for accounting purposes and the corresponding values used for taxation purposes. 
However, the deferred income tax and social contribution are not accounted for if they result 
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that does not affect neither the accounting nor the taxable profit or loss. In 
addition, no deferred tax is recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial 
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recognition of goodwill. The deferred tax is measured at the rates expected to be applied to 
temporary differences when they revert, based on the laws that were enacted or substantively 
enacted by the date of quarterly information presentation. 
 
A deferred income tax and social contribution asset arising from tax losses, tax credits and 
temporary differences deductible not used is recognized when it is probable that future taxable 
income will be available to be used to offset such credits. Deferred income tax and social 
contribution assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that their 
realization is no longer likely.  
 
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in the balance sheet if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and if they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and over the same taxable entity. 
 
s. Current and non-current assets and liabilities 
 
The segregation between current and non-current is based on a term of 12 months subsequent 
to the reporting date. 
 
t. Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated using the net income for the period attributable to the 
controlling shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of shares in 
circulation in the respective period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the 
aforementioned weighted average number of shares in circulation, adjusted by number of 
instruments potentially convertible into shares with dilutive impact, for the periods presented, 
in accordance with CPC 41 and IAS 33.  
 
u. Statements of value added 
 
The Company has prepared individual and consolidated statements of value added (DVA) in 
accordance with the technical pronouncement CPC 09 – Statement of Value Added, which are 
presented as part of the quarterly information according to corporate law applicable to publicly 
traded companies, while for IFRS these represent additional financial information.  
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v. New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for 2016 
 
Several standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards came into effect as 
from January 1, 2016, however none of them had a significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 
w. New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for 2017 
 
Several standards, amendments and interpretations of standards issued by the IASB are 
effective for financial years beginning on or after January 1st, 2017. Among these, in the context 
of the Company, the main ones are: 
 
 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instrument – The new standard changed the classifying and measuring of  
financial assets, introduced additional changes in relation to financial liabilities and 
incorporated the hedge accounting requirements. Among the many changes introduced by 
the new standard, the change in the classification of financial instruments is the main one 
applicable for the Company. 
 

 IFRS 15 - Customer Contract Revenue. This standard will virtually replace all the rules for 
revenue recognition under IFRS and USGAAP, except those that are in the scope of specific 
standards. The new standard requires that revenue recognition be made in order to portray 
the transfer of assets or services to the customer for an amount that reflects the 
expectation of the company to have in exchange the rights of such assets or services.  

 
The standards are effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2018 and the Company 
does not expect significant impacts from the adoption of these standards in the financial 
statements. 
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4 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The balance of cash and cash equivalents comprises the following: 
 
 CETIP  Consolidated  

 
December 

31, 2016  
December 

31, 2015  
December 

31, 2016  
December 

31, 2015 
 

         
 Cash 52   62   53   63   
 Cash at bank 43   17   1,350   1,574   
 Bank deposit certificates 2,150   800   2,152   801   

         
 2,245     879     3,555   2,438   

 
 
5 Financial investments 
 
a. Classification by type and category 
 
 CETIP  

 
December 31,  

2016  
December 31,  

2015 
 

Measured at fair value through profit or loss     
 Investment funds (a) 418,388   204,481   
 Bank deposit certificates 89,091   77,840   
 Financial Bills 109,804   137,776   
 Repurchase agreements 38,175   81,886   
 Financial Treasury Bills 261,204   190,790   
 Financial Treasury Bills restricted (b) 67,420   -   
Available for sale     
 National Treasury Notes - Series B 24,068   6,297   
 National Treasury Notes - Series F 127,950   81,224   
 National Treasury Bills 206,504   164,466   
Held to maturity                                                       
 National Treasury Bills 67,359  -   
 National Treasury Bills restricted (b) -  60,255   

     
 1,409,963   1,005,015   

     
Current 1,120,219   756,462   

Non-current 289,744   248,553   
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 Consolidated  

 
December 31,  

2016  
December 31,  

2015 
 

Measured at fair value through profit or loss     
 Investment funds (a)  481,530   249,975   
 Bank deposit certificates  89,091   77,840   
 Financial Bills  109,804   137,776   
 Repurchase agreements  38,175   81,886   
 Financial Treasury Bills  261,204  190,790   
 Financial Treasury Bills restricted (b)  67,420   -   
Available for sale     
 National Treasury Notes - Series B  24,068   6,297   
 National Treasury Notes - Series F  127,950   81,224   
 National Treasury Bills  206,504   164,466   
Held to maturity                                                       
 National Treasury Bills 67,359  -   
 National Treasury Bills restricted (b) -  60,255   

     
 1,473,105   1,050,509   

     
Current 1,183,361   801,956   

Non-current 289,744   248,553   

 
 

(a) Represent investments in quotas from the following funds: (i) Bradesco Fundo de 
Investimento Referenciado DI Premium, investment fund managed by Banco Bradesco S.A.; 
(ii) Fundo Bradesco Renda Fixa CP TOP Bancos, investment fund managed by Banco Bradesco 
S.A.; (iii) Santander FICFI Renda Fixa Referenciado DI, investment fund managed by Banco 
Santander (Brasil) S.A.; (iv) Itaú Investment Grade FICFI, investment fund managed by Banco 
Itaucard S.A.  and (v) Safra Capital Market, managed by Banco Safra S.A., the portfolios of 
which mainly comprise investments in federal government bonds, repurchase agreements, 
Financial Bills, bank deposit certificates (“CDBs”) and debentures (December 31, 2015 - 
investments in quotas from the following funds: (i) Bradesco Fundo de Investimento 
Referenciado DI Premium, investment fund managed by Banco Bradesco S.A.; (ii) Itaú Corp 
Plus Referenciado DI FIC, investment fund managed by Banco Itaucard S.A.; (iii) FIC Janus 
Renda Fixa, investment fund managed by Votorantim Asset Management DTVM Ltda.; and 
(iv) Santander FICFI Referenciado DI, investment fund managed by Banco Santander (Brasil) 
S.A.; (v) Portunes FICFI – Fixed-income, managed by Banco JP Morgan S.A. and (vi) Itaú 
Investment Grade FICFI, investment fund managed by Banco Itaucard S.A., the portfolios of 
which mainly comprise investments in federal government bonds, repurchase agreements, 
Financial Bills, bank deposit certificates (“CDBs”) and debentures.) 

 
(b) Financial investments held in compliance with Law 10,214 dated March 27, 2001 and 

Brazilian Central Bank Circular 3,057 dated August 31, 2001, which stipulate that clearing 
houses and settlement and custody service providers should maintain a reserve of federal 
government bonds of at least R$10,000. These investments represent CETIP’s special equity 
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and are registered in a segregated account in the Special System for Settlement and Custody 
(SELIC). 

 
b. Fair value 
 
The fair value of the investment fund quotas is based on the quota value disclosed by the 
respective administrator. 
 
For repurchase agreements with fixed interest rates, fair value is obtained through a discounted 
cash flow model based on the market rates observed in similar transactions at the reporting 
date. For repurchase agreements with floating interest rates and investment in bank deposit 
certificates, the carrying value is considered to be equivalent to its fair value. 
 
The fair value of federal government bonds is based on secondary market prices disclosed by 
ANBIMA or, in the absence thereof, prices obtained through valuation techniques that best 
reflect their sale value. 
 
As at December 31, 2016 the fair value of the financial assets held to maturity was R$67,355 
(December 31, 2015 - R$58,210). 
 
 
6 Accounts receivable 
 
   CETIP    Consolidated   

 
December 31, 

 2016  
December 31, 

 2015 
 December 31, 

 2016  
December 31, 

 2015  
 

          
Not past due  130,825   115,437    133,527   117,556    
Up to 30 days past due  465   63    484   65    
Between 31 to 90 days past due  81   34    81   34    
Between 91 to 180 days past due  76   6    76   6    
Over 180 days past due 23   66   23   66    

          
Total  131,470  115,606  134,191  117,727   

          
Impairment provision (38)  (69)  (38)  (69)   

          
Total net 131,432   115,537   134,153  117,658   

 
As of December 31, 2016 the average accounts receivable maturity term was 10 working days 
(December 31, 2015 – 10 working days). 
 
For receivables of less than R$15, the impairment provision is recorded for the full amount 
when the receivable is past due for more than 120 days.  Receivables of more than R$15 are 
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evaluated on an individual basis in order to establish if there is an objective evidence of loss, 
taking into account events such as delinquency, client’s financial difficulties, amongst others. 
 
 
7 Business combination 
 
On December 29, 2010, the Company acquired 100% of GRV’s capital, which currently 
represents Cetip's financing unit. The acquisition allowed the exploitation of synergies between 
CETIP and GRV, in addition to creating a company with a diversified business platform.  
 
The goodwill in the amount R$1,121,045 that arose from the acquisition is attributable to the 
expectation of future profitability and commercial synergies expected from the combination of 
CETIP and GRV. The goodwill deductible for tax purposes, determined in accordance with the 
accounting rules and tax rules in force until December 31, 2007 amounts to approximately 
R$816,000. 
 
Goodwill impairment testing 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill from the acquisition was allocated to the 
financing segment (Cash Generating Unit - CGU) which reflects the lowest level at which the 
goodwill is monitored internally. 
 
The recoverable value of this CGU was based on its value in use determined using a discounted 
cash flow model.  These calculations used nominal cash flow projections before taxation, based 
on the budget approved for 2017 and management’s projections for the four following years. 
The cash flows after the five year period were extrapolated based on an estimated growth rate 
presented below. 
 
The main assumptions used in the value in use determination as of December 31, 2016 were 
the following: 
 
EBITDA compound annual growth rate   16.7% 
Perpetuity growth rate       5.0% 
Discount rate        15.3% 
 
The macroeconomic assumptions used in the projections (GDP growth, inflation, etc.) were 
based on the Focus report from the Central Bank. 
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EBITDA compound annual growth rate 
The EBITDA compound annual growth rate for the first five years was determined based on 
historical performance and on Management’s expectation for the market development, taking 
into consideration the following main aspects: 
 
(i) variation in sales of vehicles based on the GDP variation; 
(ii) average rate of financing transactions as a proportion of vehicles sales of 28.8%; 
(iii) price adjustments according to the inflation projected (IGP-M). 
 
Perpetuity growth rate 
A perpetuity nominal growth rate of 5% was used. 
 
Discount rate 
The discount rate for the financing segment is a pretax rate and was estimated based on the 
Company’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted (i) to reflect a capital structure with no 
financial leverage, based on the profile of entities within this sector and on the business model 
and (ii) to reflect specific risks in relation to this operating segment. 
 
The recoverable value of the segment based on its value in use surpassed its carrying value by 
R$1,059,303 (2014 – R$247,687). The following individual changes in the main assumptions 
used in the value in use determination would have been required in order for the value in use 
to be equal to the carrying value: 
 
(i) reduction in the perpetuity growth rate from 5.0% to 0%; 
(ii) increase in the pretax discount rate from 15.3% to 20.6%; 
(iii) reduction in the EBITDA compound annual growth rate from 16.7% to 6.6%. 
 
The Management does not expect that the above changes materialize in a 12-month’s horizon. 
 
 
8 Investment in subsidiaries and associates 
 
a. Investment in subsidiaries 
 
  CETIP  

 
 December 31, 

2016 
 December 

31, 2015  

Cetip Lux S.à.r.l. (“Cetip Lux”)      

Company’s interest on the voting and paid-in capital  100%  100%  
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Cetip Lux is a private limited liability company incorporated on July 7, 2014 and based in 
Luxembourg. Cetip Lux's business purpose is the acquisition of equity in any companies or 
businesses established in any form and fundraising activities. 
 
 
Changes in the investment  Cetip Lux  
    

At December 31, 2015  827,694  
Capital Increase (a)  328,954  
Equity method – Net income  14,555  
Equity method - Foreign exchange variation on investment  (139,913)  

    

At December 31, 2016  1,031,290  
(a) US$100.000 approved at the Ordinary Board of Directors’ Meeting held on November 4, 2015 and made effective 
on September, 2016. 

 
  CETIP  

 
 December 31, 

2016  
December 

31, 2015  

Cetip Info Tecnologia S.A. (“Cetip Info”)      

Company’s interest on the voting and paid-in capital  100%  100%  

 
Cetip Info is a corporation incorporated on March 13, 2008 and headquartered in Santana de 
Parnaíba, in the Estate of São Paulo.  Cetip Info's business involves: the provision of data 
processing services and management of computer systems; advice and commercial 
representation on its own behalf or for third parties, and business intermediation in general, 
except in the area of real estate; and participation in the capital of other companies, whether in 
the same area of activity or not. 
 
Changes in the investment  Cetip Info  
    

At December 31, 2015  83,614  
Equity method   20,322   
Dividends Distributed  (5,408)  

    

At December 31, 2016  98,528  
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b. Investment in associate  
 

  CETIP 

 
 December 31, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015 

Rede de Telecomunicações para o Mercado Ltda. 
("RTM") 

    

Total assets (a)   45,021    42,189  
Current assets (a)   26,824    22,709  
Non-current assets (a)   18,197    19,480  
Total liabilities (a)   8,896    11,479  
Current liabilities (a)   8,896    10,656  
Non-current liabilities (a)   -      823  
Net revenues (b)   58,462    57,208  
Net income for the period (b)   4,106    6,127  
Company’s interest in the voting and paid-in capital  20%  20% 
Adjusted quotaholders’ equity (a)  36,125  30,710 

     
Investment in associate  7,225  6,143 
 

(a) Assets, Liabilities and Adjusted Quotaholders’ Equity as at November 30, 2016 and 
November 30, 2015, respectively. The difference in the reporting dates of the associate’s 
financial statements used in the application of the equity method results from lack of 
compatibility between the reporting schedules of the Company and its associate. 

(b) Net revenues and net income for the period from December 1, 2015 to November 30, 2016 
and December 1, 2014 to November 30, 2015, respectively. 

 
RTM is a private communications network that was specially created for the financial services 
sector, connecting about 500 institutions and 25 information/service providers in a single 
operational system.  RTM manages data, voice and image services, and develops specific 
solutions for the financial services sector. 
 
Changes in the investment  RTM  

    
At December 31, 2015  6,143  

Equity method  1,082  
    
At December 31, 2016  7,225  
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9 Property and equipment 

  Land  

Buildings, 
improvements  

and facilities  
Machinery and  

equipment  IT equipment  

Operating  
systems and  

programs  Vehicles  Other  

Property and 
equipment in 

progress  Total  

CETIP                    
At December 31, 2015  4,215  13,086  1,572  24,332  182  113  1,929  2,232  47,661  
                    
 Additions   -    809    987    797    -      -      341    16,923   19,857  
 Disposals / write off   -   (363)    -     (30)    -      -     (69)    -     (462)  
 Transfers   -    2,678    4,624    5,454    -      -      514   (13,270)   -  
 Depreciation   -   (2,429)   (974)   (9,945)   (182)   (27)   (387)    -     (13,944)  

                    
At December 31, 2016  4,215  13,781  6,209  20,608  -  86  2,328  5,885  53,112  

                    
 Total cost  4,215  27,902  10,662  78,061  13,696  209  4,088  5,885  144,718  
 Accumulated depreciation   -   (14,121)  (4,453)  (57,453)  (13,696)  (123)  (1,760)  -  (91,606)  

                    
Average annual depreciation rates  -  9.4%  15.2%  25.0%  5.7%  20.0%  10.0%  -    
                    
Consolidated                    
At December 31, 2015  4,215  13,101  1,576  24,332  182  113  1,934  2,232  47,685  
                    
 Additions   -    809    987    797    -      -      341    16,923    19,857   
 Disposals / write off   -   (363)    -     (30)    -      -     (69)    -    (462)   
 Transfers   -    2,678    4,624    5,454    -      -      514   (13,270)   -   
 Depreciation   -   (2,430)   (975)   (9,945)   (182)   (27)   (388)    -    (13,947)   

                    
At December 31, 2016  4,215   13,795    6,212    20,608    -      86    2,332    5,885    53,133   

                    
 Total cost  4,215   27,922    10,674    78,061    13,696    209    4,103    5,885    144,765   
 Accumulated depreciation   -   (14,127)   (4,462)   (57,453)  (13,696)  (123)  (1,771)    -     (91,632)   

                    
Average annual depreciation rates  -  9.4%  15.2%  25.0%  5.7%  20.0%  10.0%  -    
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10 Intangible assets 

  Goodwill 
 

Contractual relations 
 Systems and 
software acquired  

Systems and software developed 
internally  

Systems and software 
under development  Others 

 
Total  

CETIP                
At December 31, 2015  1,221,045  631,453  38,680  85,254  46,974  150  2,023,556  
                
 Additions   -      -      3,469    -      74,592    -      78,061   
 Disposals / write off   -      -      -      -      -      -      -     
 Transfers   -      -      16,190    43,534   (59,724)    -      -     
 Amortization   -     (48,986)   (18,880)   (20,970)    -      -     (88,836)   

                
At December 31, 2016  1,221,045   582,467    39,459    107,818    61,842    150    2,012,781   

                
 Total cost  1,221,045   876,383    104,114    174,863    61,842    150    2,438,397   
 Accumulated amortization  -  (293,916)   (64,655)   (67,045)    -      -     (425,616)   

                                     
Average annual amortization rates  -  5.6%  25.2%   19.1%                               -     -    
                
Consolidated                
At December 31, 2015  1,221,045  668,801  38,680  85,254  46,974  152  2,060,906  
                
 Additions   -      -      3,469    -      74,592    -      78,061   
 Disposals / write off   -      -      -      -      -      -      -     
 Transfers   -      -      16,190    43,534   (59,724)    -      -     
 Amortization   -     (51,929)   (18,880)   (20,970)    -      -     (91,779)   

                
At December 31, 2016  1,221,045   616,872    39,459    107,818    61,842    152    2,047,188   

                
 Total cost  1,221,045   928,450    104,114    174,863    61,842    152    2,490,466   
 Accumulated amortization  -  (311,578)   (64,655)   (67,045)    -      -     (443,278)   

                                     
Average annual amortization rates  -  5.6%  25.2%   19.1%                               -     -    

 
The annual impairment tests in the CGU (financing segment) did not reveal that it needs of adjustments to the value of goodwill or the amount of contractual relations. 
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11 Labor obligations and social charges 
 

    CETIP  Consolidated 

  
December 

31, 2016 
 December 

31, 2015 
 December 

31, 2016 
 December 

31, 2015 

         
Provision for vacation and social 
charges   14,301    11,756    14,420    11,885  
INSS payable   2,230    5,759    2,247    5,783  
FGTS payable   771    688    777    695  
Provision for profit sharing   46,463    40,504    46,600    40,680  
Matching Program   9,379    -    9,379    -  
Other  16,847  9,343  16,849  9,368 

         
Total  89,991  68,050  90,272  68,411 

 
 
12 Taxes payable 
 

    CETIP   Consolidated  

  
December 

31, 2016 
 December 

31, 2015 
  December 

31, 2016 
 December 

31, 2015 
 

           
PIS and COFINS payable   10,134    9,011     10,233    9,088   
ISS payable   1,700    3,070     1,752    3,111   
Income tax withheld payable (IRRF)   6,063    5,538     6,080    5,567   
Other   264    417     264    417   

Total  
                 

18,161   
                 

18,036             18,329   
          

18,183  
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13 Contingent assets and liabilities and legal obligations 
 
The Company is party to judicial and administrative proceedings arising from the ordinary 
course of its business, involving tax, labor, civil and other matters. 
 
a. Contingent liabilities 

 
Based on information from its legal advisors, analysis of the pending legal proceedings and, in 
the case of labor claims, also analysis of past losses and amounts claimed, Management 
recorded provisions for amounts considered sufficient to cover possible losses from the current 
claims  
 
The provisions for cases in which the chances of loss are considered probable mainly consist of 
the following: 
 

i. Labor contingencies – consist mainly of employees' claims linked to disputes about the 
amount of indemnities paid on dismissal. 

 

ii. Lawyers’ fees – provision to cover costs incurred in respect of lawyers’ fees, mainly related 
to the ISS proceeding described in item f. below. 

 
iii. Civil lawsuit – consists only in a bankruptcy lawsuit, in which request is made to reimburse 

shares previously canceled by the trustee in the bankruptcy procedures, pending conclusion 
in Brazil Supreme Court and whose execution is in progress. 

 
b. Legal obligations 
 
Relate to legal cases started by CETIP Association and its successor, CETIP, in which the 
applicability of certain specific taxes is being challenged. The table below summarizes the 
amount of these legal obligations (presented net of the correspondent judicial deposits). 
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CETIP and Consolidated 

 
 

December 31, 
 2016 

 December 31, 
2015 

     
COFINS on revenues (i)  10,651  10,651 
(-) Judicial deposits  (10,651)  (10,651) 

     
  -  - 

     
COFINS on other income (ii)  944  944 
(-) Judicial deposits  (944)  (944) 

     
  -  - 

     
ISS (iii)  100,978  90,748 
(-) Judicial deposits  (100,383)  (89,172) 

     
  595  1,576 

 

i. Lawsuit filed in August 2004 against the Federal Government applying for the classification 
of CETIP Association operating income in clause X of article 14, of Provisional Measure 2,158-
35/2001, thus acknowledging the Association's exemption from COFINS. COFINS on 
revenues started to be paid normally from July 2008, following the demutualization of CETIP 
Association (succeeded by CETIP). 

 

ii. Lawsuit filed in November 2005 against the Federal Government applying for exemption 
from COFINS on other income (mainly financial income). In its judgment of Extraordinary 
Appeals 346084, 357950, 358273 and 390840, the Federal Supreme Court declared 
paragraph 1, of article 3, of Law 9,718/98 unconstitutional. The deposits ceased to be made 
in August 2008, following the demutualization of CETIP Association (succeeded by CETIP). 

 

iii. Lawsuits filed applying for the non-incidence of ISS on revenues from CSD and trade 
repository maintenance fee (previously denominated as custody), registration and other 
services, as these were not included in the list of services attached to Decree-Law 406/68. 
Judicial deposits have been made for the ISS which is the subject of these lawsuits, based on 
preliminary injunctions granted. 
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c. Changes in balances 
 
          CETIP and Consolidated  

  
 Labor  

Lawyers’  
fees  

 Legal 
obligations  

Civil 
obligations  Total 

 

              
At December 31, 2015   207  1,592   1,576  2,558  5,933  

              
Additions / (reversals)   231  184   10,231  360  11,006  
Judicial deposits  
(item c) 

  
                       -     -      

           
(11,212)  

                       
-     

 
(11,212) 

 

              
At December 31, 2016    438    1,776     595    2,918   5,727  

 
d. Possible losses not provided for on the balance sheet 
 
The Company is party to tax, civil and labor claims, involving risks of loss assessed by 
management as possible based on the position of its legal advisers, for which no provision has 
been made. 
 
The main proceedings assessed as having a possible chance of loss consist of: 
 

i. Claims related to cancellation of quotas - As the successor of CETIP Association, CETIP is 
involved in disputes relating to the cancellation of certain participants’ quotas. As at 
December 31, 2016 there were 19 outstanding cases, representing an estimated 
contingency of R$10,241, for which there is a possible chance of loss (December 31, 2015 – 
R$10,780). 

 

ii. Assessments issued against CETIP Association by the Brazilian Federal Revenue on July 13, 
2009 and on August 18, 2010 related to payment of the difference in respect of COFINS, 
including fines and interest, between the cumulative (3%) and noncumulative bases (7.6% 
minus credits) for the period from August 1, 2004 to September 30, 2008, with an updated 
value amounting to R$36,717 as at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 – R$34,580). 
These assessments are directly related to the proceedings described in item c. i. above, in 
which full exemption from the respective tax is being claimed. The assessment notices 
resulting from the tax inspection have been contested before the administrative courts. A 
first degree ruling recognized CETIP Association as exempt from COFINS over its operating 
income. In November 2010 the company was informed that the appeal brought by the 
Federal Union was dismissed and denied the 1st degree ruling being maintained. During the 
period ended December 31, 2016 there were no new events. 
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iii. There were 11 outstanding labor lawsuits, representing an estimated contingency of 
R$9,620, for which there is considered to be a chance of loss. The company is the main 
defendant in 6 of these cases and subsidiary liable in the other cases. In summary, the 
employees claim that their labor rights were not complied with. (December 31, 2015 – 11 
cases, whose the amount was R$6,084). 

 
e. Remote losses 
 
As at December 12, 2003 the Municipal Finance Office of the city of São Paulo issued a number 
of assessments against CETIP Association, demanding payment of ISS to that municipality 
amounting to R$9,702. As at December 31, 2016, the updated value of these assessments was 
R$88,766 (2015 – R$79,574). Given that the Company’s headquarters is in Rio de Janeiro, where 
all the services from the securities unit were rendered to the participants and where the ISS is 
calculated and paid, and that only support areas were maintained in the city of São Paulo, as 
well as taking into account in the opinion of its legal advisors, Management considers that the 
chance of loss in this cause is remote and as such, no provision for loss has been recorded in 
this quarterly information. At December 15, 2011, a 1st degree sentence was given in favor of 
CETIP Association, determining the cancellation of all the assessments issued. 
 
 
14 Debentures, loans and finance lease obligations 
 

  CETIP  

 
 December 31, 

2016 
 December 31, 

2015 
 

      
Current      

Debentures – 2nd series (a)   520,755    21,431   
Banking loans (b.i)   328,285    3,105   
Loans with subsidiary (b.ii)   24,191    3,508   
Other loans and finance lease obligations (b.iii)  1,587  1,704  

      
  874,818  29,748  

      
Non-current      

Debentures – 2nd series (a)  -    498,849   
Banking loans (b.i)   -    381,680   
Loans with subsidiary (b.ii)   1,503,780    1,214,392   
Other loans and finance lease obligations (b.iii)  18,250  5,866  

      
  1,522,030  2,100,787  

      
Total borrowings  2,396,848  2,130,535  
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  Consolidated  

 
 December 31, 

2016 
 December 31, 

2015 
 

      
Current      

Debentures – 2nd series (a)   520,755    21,431   
Banking loans (b.i)   494,711    5,409   
Other loans and finance lease obligations (b.iii)  1,587  1,704  

      
  1,017,053  28,544  

      
Non-current      

Debentures – 2nd series (a)  -    498,849   
Banking loans (b.i)  324,655    769,153   
Other loans and finance lease obligations (b.iii)  18,250  5,866  

      
  342,905  1,273,868  

      
Total borrowings  1,359,958  1,302,412  

 
a. Debentures – 2nd series 
 
At the Board meeting held on August 6, 2014, the 2nd issue of ordinary Company’s debentures 
was approved. These debentures are not convertible into shares, unsecured, in a single series 
and in the amount of R$500,000, and were subject to a public offering with restricted 
placement efforts, pursuant to CVM Instruction 476/09. The net proceeds from the issuance 
were used to early redeem the debentures of the first issue of the Company, as well as to 
strengthen the Company's cash position. 
 
The Debentures have a term of three years from the issuance date, maturing on September 12, 
2017, and accrue remuneration equivalent to the accumulated variation of 106.65% of the 
interbank rate (DI).  
 
The deed of issue establishes certain conditions. Non-compliance with these conditions may 
result in the early maturity of the debentures.  Among these conditions are the following: 
 
(a) maintenance of a maximum financial leverage index (ratio of net debt divided by EBITDA), 
measured quarterly, equal to or below 2.50 times; 
 
(b) maintenance of an interest coverage index (ratio of EBITDA divided by interest financial 
expenses), measured quarterly, equal to or above 3.0 times.  
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As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company did not have any cases of non-compliance 
with the conditions established in the deed of issue. 
 
b. Loans 
 

i. Bank loans 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company entered into a new bank loan 
amounting US$100 million, under the terms of Law 4,131. 
 
The loan has a term of two years, with principal amortization in January 2017.The interest rate 
on the loan is 1.57% per annum and interest payments will occur every six months. 
 
In order to cover the foreign exchange risk of this transaction, the Company entered into a new 
swap transaction with the creditor bank basically exchanging its liability in dollars at a fixed rate 
by a liability denominated in reais and indexed to a percentage of the CDI variation. 
 
As a guarantee of the obligations related to the loan, the Company has given as collateral 
investments  in Bank Deposit Certificates (CDBs) whose value amounted to R$83,494 at 
December 31, 2016, and the fiduciary assignment of receivables arising from the swap 
agreement entered into between the parties. 
 
The fair value of the loan transactions and derivatives was determined using a discounted cash 
flow based on discount rates obtained through future interest curves in reais and dollars on the 
last market day. 
 
The loan agreement establishes certain conditions. Non-compliance with these conditions may 
result in the early maturity of the loan.  Among these conditions are the following: 
 
(a) maintenance of a maximum financial leverage index (ratio of net debt divided by EBITDA), 
measured quarterly, equal to or below 2.50 times; 
 
(b) maintenance of an interest coverage index (ratio of EBITDA divided by interest financial 
expenses), measured quarterly, equal to or above 3.0 times. 
 
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company did not have any cases of non-compliance 
with the conditions established in the loan agreement. 
 
On December 31, 2016, the amortized cost of the loan amounted to R$328,451 and its fair 
value R$328,285. The fair value of the derivative transaction amounted to R$52,636. 
 
During 2014, Cetip Lux obtained a bank loan amounting to US$100 million, which is guaranteed 
by the Company.  
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The loan has a term of four years, with principal amortization in the amount of US$50 million in 
August 2017 and the remaining balance in August 2018. The interest rate on the loan is 
approximately 2.5% per annum and interest payments occur on a quarterly basis. 
 
The loan agreement establishes certain conditions. Non-compliance with these conditions from 
the Company may result in the early maturity of the loan. Among these conditions are the 
following: 
 
(a) maintenance of a maximum financial leverage index (ratio of net debt divided by EBITDA), 
measured quarterly, will not be above 2.50 times; 
 
(b) maintenance of an interest coverage index (ratio of EBITDA divided by interest financial 
expenses), measured quarterly, will not be below 3.0 times. 
 
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company did not have any cases of non-compliance 
with the conditions established in the loan agreement. 
 
On December 31, 2016, the carrying value of the loan amounted to R$324,385 (December 31, 
2015 – R$389,777). 
 
During 2016 Cetip Lux obtained a bank loan amounting to US$50 million, which is guaranteed 
by the Company.  
 
The loan has a term of three years, with amortization of the total principal amount in 
September 2019. The interest rate on the loan is approximately 4.0% per annum and interest 
payments will occur every six months. 
 
The loan agreement establishes certain conditions. Non-compliance with these conditions from 
the Company may result in the early maturity of the loan.  
 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company did not have any cases of non-compliance with the 
conditions established in the loan agreement. 
 
On December 31, 2016, the carrying value of the loan amounted to R$166,696. 
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ii. Loans with subsidiary 
 
The loans with the subsidiary Cetip Lux amounted US$461,410 million on December 31, 2016. 
 
The loans have a weighted average term of approximately three years, with principal 
amortization in September 2019 and December 2020, amounting to US$404,800 and 
US$56,610, respectively. The interest weighted average rate on the loan is approximately 4.50% 
per annum and interest payments will occur every six months or on the maturity of the 
principal, depending on the loan. 
 
On December 31, 2016, the carrying value of the loan amounted to R$1,527,971 (December 31, 
2015 – R$1,217,900). The balances and results of these loans are detailed in Note 20. 
 

iii. Other loans and finance lease obligations 
 
During 2012, CETIP obtained from Financiadora de Estudos e Projetos ("FINEP") the approval for 
a loan to partially finance the costs incurred in the preparation of a project for the development 
of systems for processing and managing data related to liens in vehicles and real estate. 
 
The financing contract establishes R$11,782 will be fully paid by 2020. The loan had a grace 
period of amortization for the first 20 months and bears interest of 4% per annum on the 
outstanding balance, amortized on a monthly basis. 
 
During 2016 Cetip signed obtained a new loan from Financiadora de Estudos e Projetos – FINEP 
to partially finance the costs incurred in the preparation of new projects for the development of 
systems for processing and managing data. 
 
The amount of loan released to December 31, 2016 amounted to R$15,001 will be fully paid by 
2026. The loan had a grace period of amortization for the first 17 months and bears interest of 
9% per annum on the outstanding balance, amortized on a monthly basis. 
 
On December 31, 2016, the carrying value of these loans amounted to R$19,837 (December 31, 
2015 – R$5,929). 
 
 
15 Shareholders’ equity 
 
a. Capital 
 
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, capital consisted of 262,978,823 common registered 
shares, with no par value.  
 
As at December 31, 2016 there were 2,840,363 common shares held in treasury (December 31, 
2015 - 3,162,763 common shares held in treasury). 
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CETIP is authorized to increase its share capital up to the limit of 300 million common shares, 
regardless of any statutory amendment, by means of a decision by the Board of Directors. 
 
b. Share buyback program 
 
The Second Share Buyback Program ended in March 2016. The Company repurchased 
4,349,100 shares during the program of the limit of 5,400,000 shares approved. 
 
At the meeting held on March 2, 2016, with the objective of maximizing value generation to the 
shareholders through an efficient management of capital structure, the Board of Directors 
approved a new Share Buyback Program, with deadline for executing transactions of up to 365 
days, ending on March 1, 2017. 
 
The number of shares that may be acquired by the Company is up to 3.2 million shares, 
representing 1.23% of the total outstanding shares in the market on the date the program was 
approved. 
 
The shares acquired under the Share Buyback Program may be canceled or used in connection 
with the exercise of stock options by the beneficiaries of CETIP’s Stock Option Plans. 
 
The table below shows the amount of shares acquired and the changes in treasury shares in 
2016: 
 

  Number  Amount   

       
At December 31, 2015  3,162,763  104,502   

       
Shares acquired – Share buyback program  -  -   
Shares acquired – Exercise of right of withdrawal by 
dissenting shareholders 

 
50  1 

  

Disposal shares - stock options exercised  (322,450)  (10,655)   

       
At December 31, 2016  2,840,363  93,848   

       
Average cost of treasury shares (R$ per share)    33.04   
Market value of treasury shares    126,680   

 
As of the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company didn’t acquired more 
shares. 
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c. Capital reserves 
 
These reserves mainly consist of: (i) reserve resulting from the appropriation of expenses 
incurred under the Company’s stock option plans (Note 23c) and (ii) capital reserve resulting 
from the shares issued in favor of the former shareholders of GRV. 
 
d. Legal reserve 
 
The legal reserve is adjusted annually based on 5% of net income for the year and cannot 
exceed 20% of capital, in accordance with the Corporation Law. At the Company’s discretion, 
the legal reserve may be waived in financial years where the balance of the said reserve plus 
the capital reserves exceeds 30% of the share capital. The purpose of the legal reserve is to 
ensure the integrity of share capital. The legal reserve can only be used to offset losses and 
increase capital. 
 
e.  Statutory reserve 
 
According to a statutory provision, the entire net income remaining after (i) the allocation to 
the legal reserve and (ii) the appropriation for the payment of the minimum mandatory 
dividend, will be allocated for the establishment of a statutory reserve that could be used for 
investments and to compose funds and mechanisms necessary for the proper development of 
the Company's activities. The total value of the statutory reserve may not exceed the 
Company’s capital. 
 
If the Board considers the level of the statutory reserve sufficient for its purposes, it may 
propose to the General Meeting that: (i) in a given fiscal year, a percentage of the net income 
lower than that established in the bylaws is allocated for the formation of such reserve; and/or 
(ii) propose that part of the amounts of that reserve is reversed and distributed to the 
shareholders of the Company. 
 
f. Dividends and interest on own capital 
 
Pursuant to the Company’s bylaws, the shareholders are entitled to dividends and/or interest 
on own capital at a minimum percentage of 25% of the net income for the year, adjusted in 
accordance with the Corporation Law. 
 
In accordance with Law 9249/95, the Company's management approved during the periods of 
2016 and 2015, the distribution to its shareholders of interest on own capital, calculated based 
on the Long-term Interest Rate (TJLP), ascribing them to the minimum mandatory dividend. In 
compliance with the applicable tax legislation, the amount of interest on own capital of 
R$108,323 (2015 – R$94,891) was recorded as a financial expense. However, for the purposes 
of this quarterly information, interest on own capital is presented as a distribution of net 
income for the period, and is therefore deducted from shareholders' equity, at the gross 



CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 

 
 
 

72 

amount, since the tax benefits it has generated are recorded in the statement of income for the 
period. 
 
In addition, in May 2016, August 2016 and November 2016 the Board approved the distribution 
of interim dividends for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, June 30, 2016 and September 30, 
2016 in the amount of R$93,053, R$91,015 and R$95,757, respectively. 
  
2016  
Interest on own capital  
JCP – Board Meeting 03/15/16 – R$0.0842 gross per share paid on 06/08/16 21,899 
JCP – Board Meeting 06/15/16 – R$0.1086 gross per share paid on 08/08/16 28,244 
JCP – Board Meeting 09/21/16 – R$0.1107 gross per share paid on 11/09/16 28,815 

JCP – Board Meeting 12/21/16 – R$0.1128 gross per share paid on 02/08/17 29,365 
Interim Dividends  
Dividends – Board Meeting 05/04/16 – R$0.3579 gross per share paid on 07/08/16 93,053 
Dividends – Board Meeting 08/03/16 – R$0.3499 gross per share paid on 10/10/16 91,015 
Dividends – Board Meeting 11/09/16 – R$0.3681 gross per share paid on 01/09/17 95,757 
Dividends proposed  
Dividends – Board Meeting 02/14/17 – R$ 0.3789 per share* to be paid on 
03/08/17 98,584 

  
Total relating to 2016 486,732 

 
 

 
Gross 

amount 

2015  
Interest on own capital  
JCP – Board Meeting 03/05/15 – R$0.0839 gross per share paid on 06/09/15 22,054 
JCP – Board Meeting 06/24/15 – R$0.0871 gross per share paid on 08/10/15 22,791 
JCP – Board Meeting 09/30/15 – R$0.0932 gross per share paid on 11/10/15 24,211 

JCP – Board Meeting 12/18/15 – R$0.0994 gross per share paid on 02/11/16 25,835 
Interim Dividends  
Dividends – Board Meeting 05/06/15 – R$0.3073 gross per share paid on 07/08/15 80,599 
Dividends – Board Meeting 08/05/15 – R$0.2992 gross per share paid on 10/08/15 78,065 
Dividends – Board Meeting 11/05/15 – R$0.3326 gross per share paid on 01/11/16 86,417 
Dividends proposed  
Dividends – Board Meeting 03/02/16 – R$ 0.3194 per share* to be paid on 
05/09/16 82,992 

  
Total relating to 2015 422,964 
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(*)The value per share of dividends is subject to changes due to possible capital increases that 
may occur until the Annual General Meeting. 
 
Dividends that exceed the minimum mandatory are only recognized as liabilities at the date of 
approval at the General Meeting by the shareholders, according to CPC 24 - Subsequent Events 
and ICPC 08 - Accounting for the proposal for payment of dividends. Until the date of approval 
at the General Meeting, dividends exceeding the minimum mandatory are only segregated 
within shareholders' equity. 
 
The proposal of dividends relating to 2016 recorded in the Company's financial statements, 
subject to approval of the shareholders at the General Meeting, calculated under the terms of 
the Brazilian Corporation Law, is as follows: 
 
Proposal of net income allocation  2016  

    
Net income for the year  572,628  
Allocation to legal reserve  (*)  

    
Dividend calculation base  572,628  
    
Interest on own capital and dividends expired  243  

    
Balance of retained earnings to be allocated  572,871  
    
Dividends and gross interest on own capital  (486,732)  
Allocation to statutory reserve  (86,139)  
    
Balance to be allocated  -  

    
Proposal of dividends    
    
Net interest on own capital ascribed to dividends  92,075  
Mandatory minimum dividend  51,081  
Additional dividends  327,328  
    
Net amount to be distributed  470,484  
Percentage over the dividend calculation base  82.16%  
    
Gross amount to be distributed  486,732  
Percentage over the dividend calculation base  85%  

 

(*) Allocation to legal reserve not required as the balance thereof plus the capital reserves is 
greater than 30% of the share capital. 
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16 Earnings per share 
 
 

a. Basic 
 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the Company’s 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares issued during the period, 
excluding the common shares held in treasury. 
 

  2016  2015   

       
Numerator       

Net income  572,628  497,606   
       
Denominator       
Weighted average number of shares in circulation (in thousands)  259,992  261,162   

       
Basic earnings per share (in R$)  2.2025  1.9054   

 
 
b. Diluted 
 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common 
shares in circulation, to assume the conversion of all potential common shares dilutive. The 
Company has only one category of potential common shares dilutive which are the stock 
options. For the stock options, a calculation is carried out to determine the amount of shares 
that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average market price of the 
Company’s shares), based on the value of the subscription rights linked to the options to 
purchase shares in circulation. The amount of shares calculated in this way is compared to the 
amount of shares issued, assuming the stock options are exercised. 
 

  2016  2015   

       
Numerator       

Net income  572,628  497,606   
       
Denominator       
Weighted average number of shares in circulation adjusted by 
the effects of the stock options plans (in thousands) 

 
259,992  262,169  

 

       
Diluted earnings per share (in R$)  2.1900  1.8980   
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17 Net revenue from services 
 

  
  Cetip  Consolidated 

  
       

  
2016  2015  2016  2015 

Gross revenue from services   1,510,236   1,328,785  
 

1,545,900     1,363,074  

Securities segment    1,122,372    950,495   
 

1,122,372    950,495  

  Registration fees    113,538    121,908    113,538    121,908  
CSD and trade repository 

maintenance fees (previously 
denominated as custody)    514,032    392,086    514,032    392,086  

  Monthly utilization    226,838    189,830    226,838    189,830  

  Transaction fees    171,023    150,214    171,023    150,214  

  Other revenues from services (a)    96,941    96,457    96,941    96,457  

 
     

 
     

Financing segment    387,864    378,290    423,528    412,579  

  SNG    164,819    170,398    164,819    170,398  

  Contracts System    177,634    162,508    177,634    162,508  
Market data and solutions 
development    43,136    40,996    78,800    75,285  

  Other revenues from services    2,275    4,388    2,275    4,388  

 
     

 
     

Deductions    (249,165)   (231,467)   (259,053)   (237,644) 

Taxes on services rendered    (141,140)   (143,521)   (142,591)   (144,840) 

Other deductions (b)    (108,025)   (87,946)   (116,462)   (92,804) 

 
     

 
     

Net revenue from services   1,261,071    1,097,318   1,286,847    1,125,430  

 
 
(a) Other revenues from services in the securities segment mainly comprise: (i) interbank 

financial transfers processing services in the amount of R$45,866 in 2016 (2015 - R$38,257) 
and (ii) fees on repurchase agreements, definitive transactions and electronic platform in 
the amount of R$34,285 in 2016 (2015 – R$46,272). 

 
(b) Other deductions are mainly related to commercial discounts given. 
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18 Third party services 
 

    CETIP  Consolidated 

         
  2016  2015  2016  2015 

Auditors', consultants' and lawyers' fees  19,222   21,662  
 

 19,244   21,707 
Systems maintenance and support services   18,938   18,370   18,938   18,370 
Maintenance and cleaning of premises   1,702    1,728    1,706    1,732  
Maintenance of machinery and equipment   3,185    1,567    3,185    1,567  
Reception, security and surveillance   1,154    874    1,154    874  
Media relations and marketing   1,263    1,329    1,263    1,329  
Recruitment and selection   704   828   704    828  
FENASEG, accreditation and 
 database queries fees  43,121  40,439  45,531  44,741 
Other services  7,171  8,863  7,329  8,904 

         
Total  96,460  95,660  99,054  100,052 

 
 
19 General and administrative expenses 
    CETIP  Consolidated 

         
  2016  2015  2016  2015 

         
Property rent   6,042   5,435   6,219   5,537 
Contributions to associations   797   682   797   682 
Travel and accommodation   3,766   2,765   3,766   2,765 
Telecommunications   9,349   9,959   9,349   9,962 
Condominium   2,526   2,411   2,529   2,416 
Electricity   1,959   1,934   1,962   1,934 
Events   4,393   2,921   4,393   2,922 
Stationery   762   636   762   636 
Administrative expenses - private 

pension plan 
 

 -  597   -    597 
Insurance   382   381   382   381 
Donations   382   167   382   167 
Postal and courier expenses   317   890   317   890 
Legal expenses   754   742   758   748 
Sponsorships  6,423  4,231  6,423  4,231 
Publicity   2,916   4,602   2,916   4,602 
Other expenses   2,124   1,762   2,125   1,761 

         
Total  42,892  40,115  43,080  40,231 
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20 Financial results 
 

    CETIP  Consolidated 

   
2016 

  
2015 

  
2016  

 
2015 

         
Financial income  445,022  324,176  305,290  294,475 

Interest on available for sale and held to 
maturity financial assets 

 
39,083 

 
26,890 

 
39,083 

 
26,890 

Changes in fair value of financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss 

 
109,149 

 
92,440 

 
116,094 

 
97,231 

Foreign exchange variation on loans  285,645  70,848  138,465  34,567 
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(1) 

 

8,506 

 

20,303 

 

8,506 

 

20,303 
Gains on derivatives  -  112,976  -  112,976 
Net loss on disposal of available for sale 
financial assets 

 
- 

 
(1,015) 

 
- 

 
(1,015) 

Other financial income  2,639  1,734  3,142  3,523 
         
Financial expenses  (248,075)  (721,150)  (214,239)  (405,903) 

Interest on debentures  (73,332)  (69,076)  (73,332)  (69,076) 
Interest on loans and finance leases  (47,462)  (35,275)  (18,733)  (16,825) 
Foreign exchange variation on loans  (15,802)  (585,169)  (8,397)  (287,816) 
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(1) 

 

(8,634) 

 

(11,503) 

 

(8,634) 

 

(11,503) 
Losses on derivatives  (93,101)  (16,466)  (93,101)  (16,466) 
Tax on credit, exchange and insurance 
transactions – IOF 

 
(1,323) 

 
(57) 

 
(1,323) 

 
(57) 

Tax on financial income  (7,026)  (3,019)  (7,026)  (3,019) 
Other financial expenses  (1,395)  (585)  (3,693)  (1,141) 

         
Financial result  196,947  (396,974)  91,051  (111,428) 

 
(1) Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are mainly 
attributable to changes in market conditions, with no significant effect attributable to changes in the 
Company’s credit risk during the period. 
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21 Income tax and social contribution 
 

a. Deferred income tax and social contribution 
 
 Consolidated  

 
December, 31  

2016  
December, 31  

2015  
     
Deferred tax asset     
 Provision for contingencies and legal obligations 34,659   30,918   
 Deferred revenue 23,539   25,018   
 Foreign exchange losses 1,632   185,489   
 Adjustment to fair value of financial instruments  449   7,269   
 Other temporary differences 18,683  8,970  
     
Total deferred tax asset 78,962  257,664  
     
Deferred tax liability     
 Revaluation of property and equipment (1,596)  (1,641)  
 Review of estimated useful lives (5,906)  (6,677)  
 Research and development regarding technological 

innovation (16,339)  (13,479)  
 Transaction costs - debentures (162)  (391)  
 Business combination (46,826)  (50,787)  
 Goodwill – expected future earnings (277,540)  (277,540)  
 Gains on derivatives (17,965)  (40,052)  
 Adjustment to fair value of financial instruments (3,932)  (2,992)  
 Other temporary differences (442)  (570)  
     
Total deferred tax liability (370,708)  (394,129)  
     
Total net (291,746)  (136,465)  

 
b. Changes in balances 
 

 
 

Deferred assets  
Deferred 
liabilities 

 
Net  

 

        

At December 31, 2015 257,664  (394,129)  (136,465)   

  (Debited) credited to the  
  statement of income (169,048)  21,925 

 
(147,123)  

 

  (Debited) credited to  
  other comprehensive income (9,654)  1,496 

 
(8,158)  

 

        

At December 31, 2016 78,962  (370,708)  (291,746)   
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c. Conciliation of the income tax and social contribution expense 
 
The conciliation between the income tax and social contribution at the nominal and effective 
rates is shown below: 
 
   CETIP  

 2016  2015  

     
Income before taxation 866,855  556,402  
     

Income tax and social contributions - nominal rate 34.0%  34.0%  

     

Income tax and social contributions at the nominal rate (294,730)  (189,176)  
     
Adjustments for the calculation at the effective rate     

Equity income 13,298   12,602   
Foreign exchange variation on offshore investment (47,570)   88,393   

 Profit on tax effect abroad (1,917)    (929)    
 Tax incentives 5,605  5,237  
 Interest on own capital 36,830  32,263  
 Non-deductible expenses (5,769)  (7,207)  
 Others 26  24  
     

Income tax and social contributions on net income  
 for the period (294,227)  (58,793)  

     

Income tax and social contributions - effective rate 34.0%  11.0%  

     
Current (147,030)  (118,925)  

Deferred (147,197)  60,132  

 
  



CETIP S.A. – Mercados Organizados 
 

Notes to the financial statements at 
December 31, 2016 
In thousands of reais, unless otherwise stated 

 
 
 

80 

 Consolidated  

 2016  2015  

     
Income before taxation 884,489  567,259  
     

Income tax and social contributions - nominal rate 34.0%  34.0%  

     

Income tax and social contributions at the nominal rate (300,726)  (192,866)  
     
Adjustments for the calculation at the effective rate     

Equity income 367  327  
 Foreign exchange variation on offshore investment (47,570)  88,393  
 Tax incentives 5,605  5,237  
 Interest on own capital 36,830  32,263  
 Non-deductible expenses (5,769)  (7,206)  

Difference between the (taxable profit) tax regime and 
(presumed profit) tax regime 4,408  4,179  

 Others (5,006)  24  
     

Income tax and social contributions on net income  
 for the period (311,861)  (69,649)  

     

Income tax and social contributions - effective rate 35.0%  12.0%  

     
Current (164,738)  (129,730)  

Deferred (147,123)  60,081  
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22 Related party transactions 
 
a. Balances and transactions performed with related parties 
 
Transactions between related parties are carried at amounts, terms and usual market rates 
prevailing on the respective dates and at arm's length conditions. 
 

 CETIP and Consolidated 

  Assets/(Liabilities)  Revenue /(Expenses) 

 December 31, 
2016 

December,  31 
2016 

 
2016 2015 

Cetip Lux      
Loans and interest 
   payables 

(1,527,971) (1,217,900)    

Interest expenses    (40,543) (28,690) 

 
 

 CETIP and Consolidated 

 Assets/(Liabilities)  Revenue /(Expenses) 

 December 31, 
2016 

December 31, 
2015 

 
2016 2015 

RTM      
Accounts payable (196) (217)    
Telecommunications 
 services 

   (2,448) (2,805) 

Accounts receivable 33 -    
Assignment of space use    33 - 

      

 
The terms and conditions of the transactions with the subsidiary, Cetip Lux, are detailed in Note 
14.b.ii. 
 
b. Board of Directors, Committees and Executive Board members’ remuneration 
 
The remuneration paid or accrued to the members of the Board of Directors, Committees and 
Executive Board during the period is as follows: 

  CETIP and Consolidated  

   2016   2015  

Short-term benefits (salary, profit sharing,  
bonuses, etc.) 

  
33,848 

  
29,558  

Board and committee members’   4,961   2,268  
Post-employment benefits   587   558  
Share-based incentives with no 
 cash disbursement (a) 

  
8,297 

  
7,590  

Share-based incentives – matching (b)   2,930   -  
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(a) Represents the expense incurred on stock options granted to key management personnel 
and recognized during the period in accordance with the criteria described in Note 23c(i). 

(b) Represents the expense incurred to the amounts provided by the Matching Program granted 
to key management personnel and recognized during the period in accordance with the 
criteria described in Note 23c(ii). 

 
 
23 Employee benefits 
 
a. Supplementary pension 
 
CETIP is the sponsor of a supplementary pension plan for its employees, which is a defined 
contribution plan administrated by Itaú and previously administrated by PREVIMA. The 
Company contributed a total of R$3,311 in 2016 (2015 – R$2,985). 
 
b. Profit sharing program 
 

CETIP has a Profit Sharing Program based on annual targets. The 2016 Profit Sharing Program 
provision recorded under personnel expenses in the consolidated statement of income was 
R$46,521 in 2016 (2015 – R$40,600). 
 
c. Share based incentives 
 

i. Stock options 
 
The table below provides details of all options granted under the Company’s stock option plans: 
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Details of the options granted 

Plan/Program Vesting date Expiration date 
Exercise price  

(in reais)(1) Granted Exercised 
Cancelled / 

Expired Outstanding 
Fair value  

(in reais)(2) 

2009/1st 06/24/10 06/24/15 4.06 1,561,801 1,561,801 - - 2.09 

2009/1st 06/24/11 06/24/16 4.06 1,561,801 1,561,801 - - 2.19 

2009/1st 06/24/12 06/24/17 4.06 1,561,801 1,436,801 125,000 - 2.34 

2009/1st 06/24/13 06/24/18 4.06 1,561,802 1,336,802 200,000 25,000 2.47 

2009/2nd 06/30/11 06/30/16 11.81 250,000 250,000 - - 5.87 

2009/2nd 06/30/12 06/30/17 11.81 250,000 237,500  12,500  -  6.38 

2009/2nd 06/30/13 06/30/18 11.81 250,000 237,500  12,500  - 6.82 

2009/2nd 06/30/14 06/30/19 11.81 250,000 237,500  12,500   -  7.26 

2009/3rd 12/31/11 12/31/16 17.09 46,875 46,875 - - 10.34 

2009/3rd 12/31/12 12/31/17 17.09 46,875 46,875 - - 11.33 

2009/3rd 12/31/13 12/31/18 17.09 46,875 46,875 - - 12.05 

2009/3rd 12/31/14 12/31/19 17.09 46,875 46,875 - - 12.70 

2009/4th 03/31/12 03/31/17 19.46 8,925 8,100 825 -  11.73  

2009/4th 03/31/13 03/31/18 19.46 8,925 7,675 1,250  -   12.96  

2009/4th 03/31/14 03/31/19 19.46 8,925 7,675 1,250  -   13.83  

2009/4th 03/31/15 03/31/20 19.46 8,925 5,175 1,250  2,500   14.61  

2009/5th 09/30/12 09/30/17 18.98 700,000 650,000 25,000 25,000 9.28 

2009/5th 09/30/13 09/30/18 18.98 700,000 625,000 50,000 25,000 10.29 

2009/5th 09/30/14 09/30/19 18.98 700,000 625,000 50,000 25,000 10.97 

2009/5th 09/30/15 09/30/20 18.98 700,000 375,000 300,000 25,000 11.67 

2009/6th 09/01/13 09/01/18 20.39 40,000 - 40,000 - 8.63  

2009/6th 09/01/14 09/01/19 20.39 40,000 - 40,000 - 10.89  

2009/6th 09/01/15 09/01/20 20.39 40,000 - 40,000 - 11.73  

2009/6th 09/01/16 09/01/21 20.39 40,000 - 40,000 - 12.41  
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Plan/Program Vesting date Expiration date 
Exercise price  

(in reais)(1) Granted Exercised 
Cancelled / 

Expired Outstanding 
Fair value  

(in reais)(2) 

 Total 2009 Plan 10,430,405 9,350,830 952,075 127,500  

2010/1st 12/31/11 12/31/16 17.09  936,659  857,043  79,616 - 10.34 

2010/1st 12/31/12 12/31/17 17.09  936,659   478,446  458,213 - 11.33 

2010/1st 12/31/13 12/31/18 17.09  936,661   459,901  476,760 - 12.05 

2010/1st 12/31/14 12/31/19 17.09  936,661   455,967  480,694 - 12.70 

2010/2nd 02/06/13 02/06/18 21.60 361,250  317,500  43,750 - 10.97 

2010/2nd 02/06/14 02/06/19 21.60 361,250  313,750  47,500 - 13.42 

2010/2nd 02/06/15 02/06/20 21.60 361,250  286,500  53,750 21,000 14.50 

2010/2nd 02/06/16 02/06/21 21.60 361,250 44,650 66,250 250,350 15.35 

 Total 2010 Plan 5,191,640 3.213.757 1.706.533 271,350    

2012/1st 09/13/14 09/13/18 25.54 222,000  123,000 46,500 52,500 8.60 

2012/1st 09/13/15 09/13/18 25.54 222,000  123,000 46,500   52,500  11.13 

2012/2nd 03/06/16 03/06/23 24.50 942,000  146,000 201,000 595,000  10.43 

2012/3rd 06/19/15 06/19/19 24.13 8,750  8,750 - - 7.11 

2012/3rd 06/19/16 06/19/19 24.13 8,750  8,750 -  - 8.27 

2012/4th 08/15/17 08/15/23 22.88 400,000  - -  400,000  11.61 

2012/5th 03/25/17 03/25/24 25.00 1,135,000  - 40,000 1,095,000 11.86 
2012/6th 04/28/16 04/28/20 26.90 262,500  95,500 52,500 114,500  9.51 
2012/6th 04/28/17 04/28/20 26.90 262,500 - 70,000 192,500 10.97 
2012/7th 08/06/17 08/06/24 31.81 50,000 - -  50,000 12.62 
2012/8th 12/23/17 12/23/24 31.99 1,600,000 - -  1,600,000 13.30 

 Total 2012 Plan 5,113,500 505.000 456,500 4,152,000    
(1) Subject to adjustments, when applicable. 
(2) Fair value at grant date. 
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During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded expenses related to the (i) 
2010 Plan, in the amount of R$21; and (ii) 2012 Plan, in the amount of R$14,154, charged 
against capital reserves in shareholders’ equity (2015 – (i) 2009 Plan, in the amount of R$977; 
(ii) 2010 Plan, in the amount of R$1,390; and (iii) 2012 Plan, in the amount of R$17,419). 
 
The expenses were appropriated according to the vesting periods, on the basis that an 
estimated 2.5% of the options will not achieve vesting. 
 
As at December 31, 2016 there were (i) 25,000 options under the 2009 Plan/1st Program, (ii) 
2,500 options under the 2009 Plan/4th Program, (iii) 100,000 options under the 2009 Plan/5th 
Program, (iv) 271,350 options under the 2010 Plan/2nd Program, (v) 105,000 options under the 
2012 Plan/1st Program, (vi) 595,000 options under the 2012 Plan/2nd Program and (vii) 114,500 
options under the 2012 Plan/6th Program, that could be exercised. 
 
Assuming that all options are already granted and not yet exercised will be exercised at the end 
of the vesting period, the dilution percentage of the current shareholders is 1.75% in 2017. 
 
Options exercised during the period 

Plan/Program 
 

Number of shares 
 Exercise price  

(in reais)(1) 
 Market price  

(in reais)(1) 

       

2010/2nd   61,700    24.08    40.70  

2012/1st   17,500    20.83    41.86  

2012/2nd  138,000    20.11    42.14  

2012/3rd    9,750    19.77    43.91  

2012/6th  95,500   22.70   42.13  

   

 

 

 

 

Total  322,450     
(1) Average weighted price and average weighted share market price on the exercise dates. 

 
Consolidated changes during the period 
    

Outstanding options at 31 December, 2015  4,900,800  

    

Options exercised  (322,450)  

Options canceled/expired  (27,500)  

    

Outstanding options at 31 December, 2016  4,550,850  
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In addition to stock purchase options plans, in 2013 a performance bonus program indexed to 
the Company’s share price was established, with a total global annual amount of R$2,000. 
 
During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded expenses related to the 
aforementioned share-based compensation program settled in cash of R$5,552 (2015 – 
R$4,387). 
 

ii. Matching 
 
At the Board of Directors meeting held on November 4, 2015 the Matching Program was 
approved, whose main objectives are: (i) increase, in the medium and long-term, the alignment 
between the participants’ interests and shareholders’ interests, increasing the sense of 
ownership and commitment of the participants through the concept of investment and risk; 
and (ii) strengthen the incentives for the participants retention and long-term stability in the 
context of a public company. 
 
The program provides the possibility for the participants to invest a certain percentage of their 
net profit sharing in Company's shares and in return, receive from the Company the equivalent 
value in cash, provided that vesting conditions are met, If one of these conditions is not met 
(investment or end of the vesting period), the right to receive the consideration (matching) will 
be cancelled. 
 
The First Matching Program was implemented by the Company on March 28, 2016 and gave 
participants the right to receive the equivalent of 1.38 ordinary share issued by Company for 
each share acquired, totaling the equivalent of 366,021 Company shares, In addition to the 
amount equivalent to the matching shares, participants will also be entitled, at the end of each 
vesting period, to receive an amount equivalent to any dividends distributed by the Company 
during each vesting period. 
 
The granting of matching shares was divided into 4 equal tranches, each equivalent to 25% of 
the shares, with a vesting period of 12, 24, 36 and 48 months respectively from the date of the 
first program implementation. 
 
The expenses net of social charges related to the First Matching Program that were recorded in 
the consolidated income statement as personnel expenses amounted to R$9,386 in 2016. 
 
The expenses were appropriated according to the vesting period of each tranche and 
remeasured at the balance sheet date based on Company's shares price, also considering an 
estimate that 2.5% of the shares will not achieve vesting. 
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24 Financial instruments 
 

Classification 
 
The balances of bank deposits, accounts receivable and other receivables are classified "loans 
and receivables".  The classification of the financial investments is disclosed in Note 5.  The 
company has no financial liabilities classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
except for the bank loans which are tied to derivatives operations – economic hedge (Note 
14.b.i.). 
 

Fair value estimation 
 

CETIP operates with various financial instruments, including cash, financial investments, 
accounts receivable from clients, derivatives, accounts payable to suppliers, debentures, loans 
and finance leases.   
 

The fair value of the most significant financial instruments, financial investments, debentures 
and loans related to derivative transactions, are disclosed in Notes 5, 14.a and 14.b.i., 
respectively. 
 

It is assumed that the carrying value of accounts receivable from clients and accounts payable 
to suppliers, less impairment losses, is close to their fair values. 
 
The Company applies CPC 40/IFRS 7 for financial instruments measured at fair value in the 
balance sheet, which requires disclosure of fair value measurements in accordance with the 
following hierarchy of fair value measurement:  
 

(i) Level 1 - quoted prices (not adjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 
(ii) Level 2 - different inputs when compared to traded prices on active markets (included in 
Level 1) that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly 
(derived from prices); and 
(iii) Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
variables (inputs are unobservable). 
 
The only financial instruments measured at fair value in the balance sheet are financial 
investments classified as "measured at fair value through profit or loss" or "available for sale", 
by derivative financial instruments and the loans measured at fair value through profit or loss 
which are tied to derivative transactions. Considering that market prices disclosed for 
government bonds might involve a particular pricing methodology and not just prices arising 
from trades between participants, and the pricing methodology adopted for derivative 
instruments and loans measured at fair value, all financial assets are classified as Level 2. 
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Financial risk management 
 
The management of these financial instruments is carried out by operating certain strategies 
and internal controls, aimed to ensure liquidity, profitability and security. The control policy 
consists of permanent monitoring of the contracted conditions versus the existing conditions on 
the market. 
 
The Company does not make speculative investments or any other risky assets and use 
derivatives only for hedging foreign exchange exposure. It is the Company’s policy to invest any 
cash surpluses in relatively low-risk investments, which leads to a substantial investment in 
federal government bonds yielding the SELIC base interest rate or fixed rates. 
 
a. Credit risk 
 
The credit risk related to collecting participants’ fees is considered to be low, as all participants 
are obliged to appoint a liquidator bank when opening their account. Through its bank reserve, 
the liquidator bank is liable for the payment of all costs incurred by its client, and is responsible 
for passing these costs through to the participant. Withdrawal of the liquidator bank results in 
the immediate freezing of the participant's account if it does not appoint a new liquidator bank 
by the established deadline. The credit risk of receivables related to services provided by the 
financing unit is also considered to be low and historically these receivables have resulted in 
minimal default events. 
 
In respect of financial investments and other investments, it is the Company’s policy to deal 
with highly-rated institutions and to invest a substantial part of its cash surplus in federal 
government bonds. 
 
The carrying value of the financial assets, which includes the balances of cash and cash 
equivalents, financial investments (including the investments in federal government bonds), 
accounts receivable and other receivables, represents the maximum exposure to the credit risk 
as at December 31, 2016 and amounted to R$1,644,792 in the consolidated financial 
statements (December 31, 2015 - R$1,187,097). 
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b. Market risk – foreign exchange risk 
 
The Company's exposure to foreign exchange risk arises substantially from its investment in its 
offshore subsidiary and loans denominated in US dollars.  
 
Management has a policy for managing the exchange rate risk associated with these positions, 
whose main purpose is avoid impacts on income arising from fluctuations in exchange rates.  
 
 
The table below demonstrates the Company’s net foreign currency position as at December 31, 
2016: 

 
 Cetip  Consolidated  

Assets     
Investment in offshore subsidiary 1,031,290  -  

     
Total Assets 1,031,290  -  

     
Liabilities     

1. Inter-company loans and loan contracted by 
subsidiary, Cetip Lux (notional) (1,527,971)  (491,081)  

     
Total Liabilities (1,527,971)  (491,081)  

     
Net foreign currency position (496,681)  (491,081)  

 
Given that, under the tax laws, gains or losses arising from foreign exchange variations on 
offshore investments should not be considered in the calculation basis of income tax and social 
contribution, a mismatch is held between the assets and liabilities in foreign currency, so that 
the result after taxes is not exposed to currency fluctuations (post tax hedge).  
 
The bank loan in the amount of US$100 million was contracted under the terms of Law 4,131 
and has an associated cross-currency interest rate swap basically exchanging a liability 
denominated in dollars at a fixed rate by a liability in reais indexed to a percentage of the CDI 
variation. 
 
c. Market risk – Price risk 
 
Due to the profile of its financial instruments, the Company does not have any significant 
exposure to risk of risk of changes in the price of shares and/or commodities. 
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d. Market risk – Interest rate risk 
 
The interest rate risk is derived substantially from the Company’s financial investments in fixed 
rate instruments measured at fair value, and from financial liabilities indexed to floating rates. 
Liabilities indexed at floating rates expose the Company to cash flow risk from interest rates. 
Financial investments indexed at fixed rates and measured at fair value expose the Company to 
the fair value risk associated with interest rates. The Company continuously monitors market 
interest rates in order to monitor its exposure and the need to modify the profile of its financial 
instruments. 
 
As at the reporting date, the consolidated profile of the main financial instruments bearing 
interest was: 
 Consolidated  

 
December 31, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015  

Fixed interest rate instruments     
Financial assets     
 Financial investments 425,880  312,242  
Financial liabilities     
 Loans and finance lease obligations 510,928  400,454  
     
Floating interest rate instruments     
Financial assets     
 Financial investments (1) 1,047,223  738,267  
Financial liabilities     
 Debentures issued 520,755  520,280  
 Loans and finance lease obligations(2)  275,649  275,694  
 

(1) Despite the fact that investment funds are not interest bearing instruments, these were included together with the 
floating interest rate instruments given that their benchmark return is the CDI. 
(2) Includes the balances of loans in dollars swapped to real added or deducted from the respective balances of 
derivatives operations related to them. 

 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed interest rate instruments 
 
The only fixed interest rate instruments accounted for at fair value are the financial investments 
classified as available for sale.  These investments are classified as available for sale the table 
below shows the gross impact on shareholders' equity resulting from a change in interest rates 
applied over the exposure at the reporting date. 
 
As required by CVM Instruction 475/08, the Company has prepared three sensitivity analysis 
scenarios. Scenario I uses future market interest rates observed at the reporting date. Scenarios 
II and III consider a deterioration of 25% and 50%, respectively, in the risk variable considered. 
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      Consolidated 

      Scenarios – impact on equity 

    Balance at       
  Risk  12/31/16  I  II  III 

           
LTN, NTN-B and 
NTN-F  

Increase in 
interest rates  358,522  11,396  (7,522)  (24,932) 

 
The only financial liabilities with fixed interest rate measured at fair value are bank loans in 
dollars swapped to reais. Considering that these loans are associated to derivative transactions, 
the table below shows the gross impact on income and shareholders' equity resulting from a 
change in interest rates applied to the position of both transactions at the reporting date. 
 
As required by CVM Instruction 475/08, the Company has prepared three sensitivity analysis 
scenarios. Scenario I uses future market interest rates observed at the reporting date. Scenarios 
II and III consider a deterioration of 25% and 50%, respectively, in the risk variable considered. 
 
      Consolidated 

      
Scenarios – impact on income and on 

equity 

    Balance at       
  Risk  12/31/16  I  II  III 

Hedged (swap) 
loan 

          
 Increase in   (328,285)  166  341  516 

Derivatives  
 

interest rates 
  52,636  (203)  (399)  (595) 

Total net    (275,649)  (37)  (58)  (79) 

 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating interest rate instruments 
 
The floating rate financial instruments are the financial investments, the debentures and the 
bank loans in dollars swapped to reais.  The table below shows the gross impact in the income 
and shareholders' equity for the following quarter, using three scenarios of interest rates 
applied over the net exposure as at the reporting date. 
 
Scenario I below uses interest rates projected for the following quarter based on quotes from 
the futures’ market at the reporting date plus a spread. Scenarios II and III consider a 
deterioration of 25% and 50%, respectively, in the risk variable considered. 
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      Consolidated 

      
Scenarios – impact on income and on 

equity 

    Balance at       
  Risk  12/31/16  I  II  III 

           
Floating rate 
instruments  

Increase in 
interest rates  250,820  28,715  21,243  13,970 

 
e. Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that a company does not have sufficient liquid resources to honor its 
financial commitments, due to the mismatch of terms or volumes between its expected cash 
receipts and payments.  
 
To manage liquidity, projections of disbursements and future receipts are established and are 
monitored daily by the treasury department. 
 
The table below summarizes the consolidated financial liabilities, by maturity bands 
corresponding to the period from the reporting date to contractual maturity.  The figures 
disclosed in the table are the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
       Consolidated  

 
Less than 
one year  

Between 
one and two 

years  

Between 
two and five 

years   
Over five 

years   

At December 31, 2016         
 Suppliers and other accounts payable 65,977   1,294    -     -  
 Dividends and interest on own capital payable 122,523    -      -     -  
 Loans and finance lease obligations 3,280   4,636   10,836   10,240  
 Bank loans (1) 506,339   173,466   170,679     -  
 Debentures issued (2) 564,863   -    -     -  
         
At December 31, 2015         
 Suppliers and other accounts payable 54,416   8,046    -     -  
 Dividends and interest on own capital payable 110,261    -      -     -  
 Loans and finance lease obligations 2,021   3,833   2,547   -  
 Bank loans (1) 17,875   598,585   199,178     -  
 Debentures issued (2) 77,452   587,210    -     -  
 

(1) Payments of bank loans in foreign currency were estimated and converted into reais using the exchange rate 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. 
(2) Floating interest rate payments were estimated using the projected rates based on quotes from the futures’ market 
or market expectations. 
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Capital management 
 
The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the continuity of the 
Company's ability to offer a return to shareholders and benefits to other interested parties, in 
addition to maintaining an optimal capital structure to reduce this cost. 
 
To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may revise its policy regarding payment 
of dividends, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.   
 
 
The financial leverage index, measured by the ratio between net debt and the sum of 
shareholders’ equity and net debt at the reporting date, is presented as follows: 
 
 Consolidated  

 
December 31, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015  

     
Debentures 520,755  520,280  
Loans and finance leases 839,203  782,132  
Derivative financial instruments (52,636)  (109,091)  
Cash and cash equivalents and non-restricted 
financial investments (1,409,240) 

 
(992,691)  

     
Net debt (101,918)  200,630  
     
Total shareholders’ equity 1,834,541  1,695,815  

     
Total capital 1,732,623  1,896,445  

     
Level of financial leverage - % (6%)  11%  
 
As described in Note 5, the Company is subject to a regulatory capital requirement and has to 
maintain a reserve in federal government bonds which forms CETIP’s special equity.  
 
The special equity was formed by an initial investment of R$10,000 and all interest from this 
investment reserve is incorporated into the special equity. As at December 31, 2016 CETIP's 
special equity amounted to R$67,420 (December 31, 2015 - R$60,255). 
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25 Segment information 
 
Management has defined the Company's operating segments, based on the reports used for 
making strategic decisions, reviewed by the Executive Board. 
 

Since the acquisition of GRV, the Company’s information started to be presented in two 
operating segments: (i) securities segment (activities performed by CETIP prior to the 
acquisition of GRV), and (ii) financing segment (activities previously performed by GRV). 
 
The information by business segment for the period ended December 31, 2016 is as follows: 
 
 Consolidated  

 
Securities 
segment  

Financing 
segment  Total  

       
Total gross revenue from the segment 1,122,372  423,528  1,545,900  

       
Gross revenue from external clients 1,122,372  423,528  1,545,900  

       
Adjusted EBITDA 710,105  202,152  912,257  
 

The Executive Board assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the 
measurement of adjusted EBITDA. This measurement excludes the effects of share-based 
incentives and equity in the results of subsidiaries. Financial income and expenses are not 
allocated to segments, since this type of activity is conducted centrally. 
 
The Company does not make an allocation of assets and liabilities to operating segments. These 
are evaluated by the Executive Directors on a consolidated basis. 
 
The reconciliation of the adjusted EBITDA and net income before taxation for the period ended 
December 31, 2016 is presented below: 

 
 

 Consolidated  
   

Adjusted EBITDA for the segments reported  912,257   
Depreciation and amortization (105,726)   
Share-based incentives with no cash disbursement (14,175)   
Equity in the results of subsidiary  1,082   
Financial result  91,051   

  
 

Income before taxation 884,489  

 
During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Company had three clients whose revenues 
represented 10% or more of the Company’s total gross revenues. The revenues from these 
three clients represented approximately 35% of the Company’s total gross revenues and are 
attributable to the securities and financing segments.  
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Report of the Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee of Cetip S.A. - Mercados Organizados (Cetip), a permanent statutory 
advisory body to the Board of Directors, had its constitution approved at the Board of Directors’ 
meeting of November 6, 2013, according to Corporate Governance best practices and with the 
provisions of its Internal Regulations (available on the website http://www.cetip.com.br/ri site). 
 
The Committee meets ordinarily on a monthly basis and extraordinarily whenever necessary. 
 
Committee Responsibilities 
 
The Committee is responsible, mainly:: (i) to ensure the quality and integrity of the Company's 
financial statements; (ii) to supervise the activities of the area responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries; (iii) to evaluate the procedures 
adopted by the company for compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) to assess 
the performance and quality of the audit work, as well as any independence matters of the 
Independent Auditors and the Internal Audit; and (v) to analyse the quality and effectiveness of 
internal controls and risk management activities and issue recommendations in this respect. 
 
The Committee's assessments are based on information received from management, 
independent auditors, internal auditors and those responsible for risk management and internal 
controls, as well as on its own analysis and the results of meetings with executives. 
 
Audit Committee's activities for the 2016 financial year 
 
The Committee met thirteen times in the period from January to December 2016 to monitor: (i) 
the activities of the Internal and External Audits; (ii) the monthly, quarterly and annual financial 
statements; (iii) the relevant incidents of Operations, Information Technology, Compliance and 
Information Security; (iv) the Company’s business and the internal control environment; (v) the 
main projects that contain relevant operational risks, mainly those that can impact Cetip’s 
business continuity; and (vi) the complaints received possible fraud communications through 
the reporting channel. The Committee took notice of the results of inspections and 
observations from regulators and monitored the corresponding Management's actions. 
 
The Committee held regular meetings with the Cetip’s CEO, occasions where it had the 
opportunity to make recommendations on various aspects arising from the exercise of its 
functions and to hear possible concerns. As a Board member, the Coordinator of the Committee 
reports relevant facts to the Board of Directors, whenever applicable. 
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Internal Audit 
 
Internal Audit is directly subordinated to the Audit Committee and indirectly to the CEO. The 
Internal Audit acts objectively and independently, and adopts its own methodology, based on 
the best practices of the profession, using an approach based on assessment by processes with 
the frequency of work determined according to the risks of the assessed processes and the 
impact that any control failure could have to the Company 
 
In 2016, the Internal Audit continued its reorganization improving its performance substantially. 
Expanded the audit team and adopted new skills, a fact that positively impacted the completion 
of the Audit Plan for the year. 
 
The Audit Committee noted a significant improvement in the area and concluded that the 
Internal Audit operates independently and has the capacity to identify material weaknesses in 
internal controls and risk management. 
 
Internal Controls 
 
The Audit Committee concludes that failures that might jeopardize the results and the 
continuity of the organization were not identified and that the internal controls of the Company 
are developed to meet the following aspects: 
 
1. Compliance with standards and regulations; 
2. Keeping the normal operations of the organization, identifying and correcting any deviations 
in a timely manner; 
3. Responding to the information needs of the market and regulators. 
 
Aiming at the Company’s sustainability and its strategic growth plans, the Audit Committee 
emphasize the importance of implementing the its recommendations to strengthen the internal 
control structure and the corporate governance. 
 
External Audit 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores Independentes (PwC) is the firm responsible for the audit of 
the financial statements for the 2016 fiscal year, for the planning and execution of their work, 
according to standards of the profession, as well as responsible for the limited reviews of 
interim financial statements (ITRs) sent to the Brazilian Securities Commission - CVM. 
 
The Committee held regular meetings with the external auditors to discuss the audit results and 
relevant accounting aspects, which enabled its members to assess the quality and objectivity of 
the work performed. No special concern was raised by the External Audit regarding Cetip’s 
situation. 
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During 2016 a regulation was established that regulates the engage of the independent auditor 
to provide others services. The PwC was engaged to provide other services to Cetip, in addition 
to the independent audit of the financial statements with the approved of the Committee, to 
considered that the same does not put in risk the independence of the auditors. 
 
The Committee concludes that the external auditors acted with objectivity and independently 
and recommended its maintenance. 
 
Financial Statements 
 
The Audit Committee meets monthly with the Finance area, when the financial results of Cetip 
and its variations are presented and discussed. Every quarter, the Committee meets with the 
external auditors, when the Financial Statements and the auditors’ conclusions are discussed. 
 
The Audit Committee analysed the financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2016 together with the report of independent auditors, that was discussed with the Committee. 
 
Based on the information and discussions aforementioned, the Audit Committee recommends 
to the Board of Directors, the approval of the audited financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2016. 
 
 
São Paulo, February 14th, 2017 
 
 
Alkimar Ribeiro Moura 
Coordinator and Independent Board Member 
 
 
Elio Boccia 
Information Technology Expert 
 
 
Guy Almeida Andrade 
Financial Expert 
 




